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MANAGEMENT REPORT AND COMMENTS ON THE /hat!b¸Ω{ t9wChwa!b/9 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

 

Pursuant to legal provisions, TOTVS S.A., the largest developer of application software, collaboration 

and productivity platforms, hardware and consulting services in Brazil and Latin America, submits for the 

appreciation of its shareholders the Management Report and the corresponding Financial Statements, 

accompanied by the independent auditor's report for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, 

prepared in accordance with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil.  

 

MESSAGE FROM THE MANAGEMENT 

 

In 2017, TOTVS had resumed its growth trajectory. Net revenue increased organically by 2.0%, driven 

by the 34.3% growth in subscription revenue, which already accounts for 20.7% of total our software revenue. 

This evolution in subscription is the result of the digital journey that TOTVS is going through part of and which 

is increasingly transforming it into a subscription company. 

 

Due to this transition, costs and expenses have increased faster than revenue growth. This factor, added 

to the effects of the economic recession in Brazil, resulted in a decline in net income and EBITDA in the period. 

Thus, we adjusted the costs and expenses structure to better align it with the growth in recurring revenue but 

ǿƛǘƘƻǳǘ ŎƻƳǇǊƻƳƛǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎŀǇŀŎƛǘȅ ŦƻǊ ƎǊƻǿǘƘΣ ǇǊƻŦƛŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ ƛƴƴƻǾŀǘƛƻƴΦ 5ŜǎǇƛǘŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƭƻǿŜǊ 

profitability, the continued financial discipline enabled us to increase our net operating cash flow by 26.6% 

and reduced our net debt by 32.7%.  

 

In 2017, we also strengthened the 3 pillars that support the Digital Journey strategy: 

 

Culture and Environment ς ǿŜ ƘŀǾŜ ƛƴŀǳƎǳǊŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƴŜǿ ƘŜŀŘǉǳŀǊǘŜǊǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ Ŏƛǘȅ ƻŦ {ńƻ 

Paulo which brought together almost 3,000 employees, earlier previously scattered spread across seven units 

in the city and the metropolitan region.  The new head officeheadquarters is a technological campus specially 

designed for TOTVS and inspired by the most modern working environment for technology companies around 

the world.  

 

Processes and Customer Service ς we have revisited our service development processes with the use 

of agile development and project management methodologies, and we launcheded a new digital platform that 

allowso make interactions with clients in a simpler and faster way. 

 

Offering and Portfolio ς we launched our Artificial Intelligence platform (Carol), whose is designed to 

expand the analytical capacity and speed up the decision-making process in a business environment marked 

by ever-increasing volume of information. We also inaugurated iDEXO which, is an institute whose mission is 

to connect startups, entrepreneurs and developers in order to create pursuing new business solutions.  

 

In 2018, we will continue keep our focused on customer the success of our clients, with the purropose 

ƻŦ ά{ƛƳǇƭƛŦȅƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ .ǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ²ƻǊƭŘΣέ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ƻǳǊ ŎƭƛŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŘƛƎƛǘŀƭ ƧƻǳǊƴŜȅΣ ƻŦŦŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ōŜǎǘ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ 

solutions for companies of all sizes and industry segments. 
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ECONOMIC SCENARIO 

 

The 3% growth in the world economy in 2017 represents the highest rate since 2011. Despite the 

ǳƴŎŜǊǘŀƛƴǘƛŜǎ ǎǳǊǊƻǳƴŘƛƴƎ 5ƻƴŀƭŘ ¢ǊǳƳǇΩǎ ǇƻƭƛǘƛŎŀƭ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŀƭǎΣ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴŦƭƛŎǘǎ ŀƴŘ ǘŜƴǎƛƻƴǎ ƛƴ ǎǇŜŎƛŦƛŎ Ǝƭƻōŀƭ 

regions that affected negatively the year, the resumption of the Chinese market and GDP increase in the Euro 

Zone, boosted mainly by Germany, Spain and France, are factors that helps the improvement in the global 

economic scenario. Latin America showed a slight recovery when compared to 2016, caused by world trade 

improvement, commodities, and the low financial volatility in the international markets. 

 

Brazilian GDP showed a slight increase around 1% in 2017 and the IPC-A inflation closed the year at 

2.95%, below the target level set by the Central Bank and the lowest in 19 years. The Selic interest rate closed 

the year at 7.25% versus 13.75% in 2016, while the US dollar registered an accumulated high of 1.99%. The 

trade balance were positive and the investments in the country shown signs of high, which, in large part, was 

due to the increase in market confidence. Despite of the positive signs, Brazil fiscal crisis continues to be the 

ƎƻǾŜǊƴƳŜƴǘΩǎ ǇǊƛƻǊƛǘȅ ŀƎŜƴŘŀΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǎŜŀǊŎƘ ǎƻƭǳǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƻ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǇŜƴǎŜǎ ŎƻƴǘŀƛƴƳŜƴǘΦ  

 

In the national policy field, 2017 was marked by turbulences in the Michel Temer government, the 

corruption accusations involving the President created instabilities when discussed in the Congress, who 

subsequently acquitted him. With the removal of this accusations, the Executive and Legislative authority 

approved important agendas, such as the labor reform, the debt refinancing program, the oil and gas auction, 

ŀƴŘ .ǊŀȊƛƭΩǎ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎƘƛǇ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ h9/5Φ ¢ƘŜ Ŏƻƴǎǘƛǘǳǘƛƻƴŀƭ ŀƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘ ǘƘŀǘ ƛƳǇƻǎŜǎ ƭƛƳƛǘ ƻƴ 

public spending was also a landmark in the microeconomic agenda approved by the current government. The 

Social Security reform, however, will be the target of the last year of the administration. 

 

Despite the negative effects of the politics and the slight economic revival, Brazil continues to be a 

country with many business opportunities. The reduction interest rates and inflation, the recovery of GDP lead 

us to believe in the recovery of Brazilian economic growth for the coming year. 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED OPERATING AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE  

 

In 2017, net revenue totaled R$2,227,330 thousand, an increase of 2.0% over the previous year.  

This growth was mainly due to the advance of 6.2% in software revenue, which represented 2/3 of net 

revenue for the year. 

 

The revenue from licensing fees ended the year 0.7% lower than 2016, reflecting a 16.2% decrease in 

sales. This reduction was due to the migration of a part of the sales pipeline of new clients to the subscription 

model, especially smaller clients. The increase in the average ticket in the year is mainly explained by the 

higher participation of sales to large clients. 

 

Maintenance revenue has remained stable year-on-year, despite being adversely affected by the 

following factors: (i) lower volume of license sales in previous periods; (ii) increase in client defaults; (iii) higher 
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volume of partial cancellation of maintenance contracts due to layoffs at clients; and (iv) the decline in the 

IGP-M inflation index in 12 months, especially since 2Q17 when the index declined over successive periods. 

 

Subscription revenue amounted R$307,866 thousand, an increase of 34.3% over 2016. The growth of 

subscription revenue is consequence of the higher share of sales to new clients of small and medium size, 

especially in the TOTVS Intera. In addition to TOTVS Intera subscription, the sales of Bemacash also contributed 

ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǿǘƘ ƻŦ ǎǳōǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻƴ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜ ƛƴ нлмтΦ .ŜƳŀŎŀǎƘ ƛǎ ŀ ǎƻƭǳǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ ŎƻƳōƛƴŜǎ ¢h¢±{Ω ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ 

software for microenterprises (Fly01 line), contracted under the subscription model, and the automation and 

tax hardware solutions from Bematech. 

 

Service revenue decreased 6.1% in 2017, mainly due to: (i) the 3.0% decline in software implementation 

services in the period due to the slower sales of projects in the year; and (ii) the 11.7% decrease in services 

not related to software implementation, chiefly in the slower sales volume of the consulting projects. 

 

Hardware revenue was 4.0% lower than 2017, essentially due to the 20.7% drop in fiscal printer sales in 

the year, which led to the reduction in the share of fiscal solutions sales of hardware revenue to 15.7% in the 

year, down 3.8 percentage points from 2016. Revenue from other hardware solutions grew 2.3% in the year, 

mainly driven by the growth in revenue from Bemacash sales. 

 

The strategy of providing segmented, specialized business solutions integrated with TOTVS platforms is 

ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƪŜȅ ŎƻƳǇŜǘƛǘƛǾŜ ŀŘǾŀƴǘŀƎŜǎ 

 

The chart on the right shows total net revenue in 2017 

and 2016 by industrial segment, indicating that the 

Manufacturing and Retail together account for over 47% of 

total revenue. 

 

Although it is the segment that most traditionally uses 

management solutions, Manufacturing is strategic for 

integrating value chains (e.g. Distribution & Logistics, Retail and 

Credit) and is going through major transformation called 

άLƴŘǳǎǘǊȅ пΦлέΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ Ƙŀǎ ŎǊŜŀǘŜŘ ƴǳƳŜǊƻǳǎ ǎŀƭŜǎ 

opportunities for TOTVS solutions designed for process automation, supply chain synchronization, capture of 

digital content, collaboration and sharing of information, with mobility and connectivity (e.g. Fluig platform).  

 

These sales has driven growth, neutralized the impacts of transition to subscription and maintained the 

ǎŜƎƳŜƴǘΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜ ƻŦ ǘƻǘŀƭ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜΦ  

 

In the Retail segment, the drop in hardware sales in 2017 impeded the effects of the transition to 

subscription from being neutralized by the sales opportunities arising from the gradual recovery in this 

segment during the year, and a part of this recovery was noticed in the Distribution segment through the 

expansion of operations at cash and carry stores. One example of the new solutions launched for this segment 

ǿŀǎ ά¢h¢±{ wŜǘŀƛƭ!ǇǇέΣ ŀ ƳƻōƛƭŜ ǇƭŀǘŦƻǊƳ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ wŜǘŀƛƭ!ǇǇ ǇŀǊǘƴŜǊΣ ƛƴǘŜƎǊŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ¢h¢±{Ω ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ 
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solutions and platforms, which uses data to generate reliable, real time information that enables clients to 

take smart decisions. 

 

The cost of Software increased 12.0% when compared to the previous year. This growth is a reflection 

of the complementary sales solutions provided by partners. 

 

The cost of Support increased 1.2% when compared to the previous year, as a consequence of the wage 

adjustments resulting from collective bargaining agreements in the period 

 

The reduction in the cost of services in 2017 is mainly due to the lower volume of projects in the year 

and the consequent lower personnel cost in this line, including layoffs for the structure, net of the collective 

salary increases occurred throughout the year. 

 

The decrease in hardware costs in 2017 is mainly due to the reduction in hardware sales in the year. It 

is worth mentioning that the cost of hardware also includes depreciation expenses, in the amount of R$3,320 

thousand (R$3,314 thousand in 2016). 

 

The growth in research and development expenses in the year mainly reflects the wage adjustments 

resulting from collective bargaining agreements in the period and additional investments in innovation mainly 

related to the specialization of the business solutions, to the open platforms and to the segment of micro and 

small businesses.  

 

The advertising expenses represented 2.2% of net revenue in 2017 and 2016. The year on year increased 

5.9% of these expenses mainly reflects collective bargaining agreements and updates of contracts with 

providers made throughout the year. 

 

Selling expenses and commissions jointly increased from 15.7% to 17.1% of net revenue mainly due to 

the growth of Subscription Revenue in the period. These expenses are directly related to the change in sales 

mix between franchises and own branches, as well as related to the net revenue mix, due to the different 

levels of variable remuneration and commissioning applied to the revenue lines. 

 

The increase in general and administrative expenses in 2017 is mainly due to wage adjustments resulting 

from collective bargaining agreements in the period and additional expenses with the merger of subsidiaries 

ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǘŜƎǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ .ŜƳŀǘŜŎƘΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΦ 

 

The increase in management fees for the year mainly reflecting the provision of bonus for the 

achievement of financial and individual targets of executives in the period. 

 

The increase in depreciation and amortization expenses in 2017 resulted mainly due to the: (i) start of 

depreciation of assets in the new facilities (e.g. new headquarters in São Paulo); and (ii) infrastructure 

investments for the Cloud operation. 
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Allowance for doubtful accounts corresponded to 1.6% of net revenue in 2017, compared to 2.3% in 

2016. The increase in this provision is mainly due to the additional provision of R$17,221 thousand related to 

the higher credit risk of a large client in the Services segment. 

 

The financial result was negative in R$39,447 thousand in 2017, 7.4% higher than prior year, mainly due 

to the steeper decline in the Selic rate, which impacted the yield on financial investments, when compared to 

the decrease in TJLP  (Long-term interest rate), which affects interest payments on borrowings 

 

Income Tax and Social Contribution expenses decreased by 53.1% in 2017, totaling R$10,894 thousand. 

This reduction is mainly due to the decrease in the income before income tax and social contribution and to 

the greater representativeness of interest on equity when compared to income before tax and social 

contribution in the period. 

 

Net Income decreased 38.8% year over year. The change was mainly due to: (i) the 32.3% reduction in 

profit before financial effects and equity pick up; (ii) the higher negative financial result for the year; and (iii) 

the increase of expenses with depreciation and amortization. 

 
 Consolidated 

 2017  2016  Variation 

Net Income 93,258  152,269  -38.8% 

 IR e CS 10,894  23,252  -53.1% 

 Financial Result 39,447  36,732  7.4% 

 Depreciation and Amortization 150,894  131,664  14.6% 

EBITDA 294,562  343,917  -14.4% 

Fixed Assets Write-Off  3,155  -  - 

Additional Provision (Reversal) for Contingencies  (4,288)  -  - 

Additional Costs with Layoffs  10,069  4,423  127,6% 

Additional Provision for Doubtful Accounts   -  17,221  -100,0% 

Adjustment of the Inventory Average Cost -  2.376  -100,0% 

Gain from the Sale of Subsidiaries -  (9,209)  -100,0% 

ADJUSTED EBITDA 303,497  358,728  -15.4% 

 

This decrease in adjusted EBITDA was mainly caused by the combination of the following factors: (i) the 

more than proportional increase in commercial expenses due to the transition to the subscription model; (ii) 

the growth of general and administrative expenses, mainly due to the adjustment of inflation of costs and the 

additional expenses with the integration of the operations of companies acquired in previous periods; (iii) the 

decline in services income due to the reduced allocation of professionals; (iv) the decline in contribution 

margin from hardware, especially on account of the decline in fiscal printer sales and less tax subsidy. 

 

The non-financial data included in this report, such as number of clients, average ticket, Market share, 

among others, were not examined by our independent auditors. 

 

(*) EBITDA is a non-accounting (non-audited) measure prepared by the Company and consists of net income for 

the year, plus income taxes, financial expenses net of financial revenues, and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted 

EBITDA represents EBITDA, deducted from extraordinary effects with adjustments of property, plant and equipment 

inventory, layoffs related to organizational restructuring, reversal of extraordinary effects related to additional provision 

for contingencies, additional provision for doubtful accounts and gain from the sale of subsidiaries. 
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CAPITAL MARKETS 

 

TOTVS ended the year with capital of R$989,841 thousand. At the end of 2017, the capital stock of the 

Company was composed of 165,637,727 common shares, with 71.4% of free float, of which 98.5% was held 

by institutional investors and 88.6% by foreign investors. 

 

Free float is calculated as the total number of Company shares, excluding shares owned by Management 

and related persons, Fundação Petrobras de Seguridade Social (PETROS) and those held in treasury. 

 

In 2017, TOTVS shares (B3:TOTS3) depreciated 24.3%, while the Bovespa Index (IBovespa) increased 

26.9%. Average financial volume in 2017 stood at R$14.1 million/day, versus R$18.0 million registered in 2016. 

 

Dividends for 2016: proposed by the Board of Directors on March 16, 2017, and approved at the 

Ordinary General Meeting on April 20, 2017, dividends for the year totaled R$7,374 thousand, to shareholders 

of TOTVS as of April 20, 2017. The dividends were paid on May 10, 2017. 

 

Interest on equity for 2017: On July 31, 2017, the board of directors approved the payment of interest 

on equity of R$32,912 thousand to its shareholders related to the first semester of 2017, having made entitled 

do the benefit the shareholders of TOTVS as such on August 4, 2017. The interest on equity were paid on 

October 06, 2017. 

 

On December 21, 2017, the board of directors approved the payment of interest on equity of  of 

R$17,435 thousand to its shareholders related to the second semester of 2017, having made entitled do the 

benefit the shareholders of TOTVS as such on December 27, 2017. The interest on equity will be paid on May 

09, 2018. 

 

The payment regarding the fiscal year of 2017 and were imputed to the minimum mandatory dividend 

ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜ оп ƻŦ ¢h¢±{Ω .ȅƭŀǿǎΦ  

 

Interest on equity for 2016: On December 16, 2016, the board of directors approved the payment of 

interest on equity of R$40,614 thousand for the second semester of 2016, having made entitled do the benefit 

the shareholders of TOTVS as such on December 21, 2016. This interest on equity was paid on January 13, 

2017.  

 

The payment regarding the fiscal year of 2016 and the amount was calculated towards the minimum 

mandatory dividend in accordance with Article 34 of the Bylaws of TOTVS. 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

Novo Mercado: TOTVS was the first Brazilian software company to join the segment that meets the 

highest corporate governance standards of the São Paulo Stock Exchange (B3). 

 

Board of Directors: ¢h¢±{Ω .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ƛǎ ŎƻƳǇƻǎŜŘ ƻŦ ф ƳŜƳōŜǊǎΣ ƻŦ ǿƘƛŎƘ у ƻŦ ǘƘŜƳ ŀǊŜ 

external and independent members, in accordance with Novo Mercado regulations. 11 officers compose the 
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Executive Board. The list containing the names, position and a brief resume of the Board members and 

Executive Officers is available on the Company´s Reference Form, in http://ir.totvs.com . 

 

Audit Committee: It is an advisory body to support the Board of Directors, and its mission is to monitor, 

evaluate and ensure the best operation of processes, management of internal and external audit mechanisms 

and controls related to risk management and consistency of financial policies with the strategic guidelines and 

business risk profile. Currently, the Audit Committee is composed of 4 independent external members elected 

by the Board of Directors, chaired by an independent member of the Board of Directors. 

 

Remuneration Committee: assists the Board in setting compensation policies and benefits for directors, 

officers and participants. The company currently has 4 members elected by the Board of Directors, of which 1 

is external, and is chaired by an independent member of the Board of Directors. 

 

Governance and Designation Committee: Composed of 3 members of the Board of Directors, its main 

duties are to promote changes in the Company's corporate governance, to evaluate the adoption of good 

practices and to select and appoint members to the Board of Directors and the Board of Executive Officers. 

 

Arbitration: ŀŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ bƻǾƻ aŜǊŎŀŘƻ wŜƎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ȅƭŀǿǎΣ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭƭƛƴƎ 

shareholder, administrators, the Company itself and the Fiscal Council members should undertake to settle all 

and any dispute or controversy arising from or relating to Novo Mercado Regulations, the Novo Mercado 

Adhesion Agreement, Arbitration Clauses, especially, regarding its application, validity, effectiveness, 

interpretatƛƻƴΣ ōǊŜŀŎƘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŜŦŦŜŎǘǎ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ŀǊōƛǘǊŀǘƛƻƴΦ 5ƛǎǇǳǘŜǎ ǊŜƎŀǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƭŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

control shall also be solved through arbitration. 

 

Management Statement: in accordance with subparagraphs V and VI, Article 25 - CVM Instruction 

480/09, the officers of TOTVS declare that they discussed, reviewed and agreed with the views expressed in 

the independent auditors' report and financial statements for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2016. 

 

 

RELATIONSHIP WITH INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  

 

¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ Ǉolicy on engaging services not related to external audit by independent auditors is 

grounded on the principles that preserve their autonomy. These principles consist of internationally accepted 

standards, namely:  (a) auditors must not audit their own work; (b) auditors must not exercise management 

functions at their clients; and (c) auditors must not create conflicts of interest with their clients. 

 

Procedures adopted by the Company pursuant to item III, article 2 of CVM Instruction 381/03: The 

Company and its subsidiaries adopt as a formal procedure, before hiring independent auditors for 

professionals services not related to external audit, ensuring that the execution of these other services does 

not affect their autonomy and objectivity necessary for the performance of independent audit services, and 

obtaining the approval of their Audit Committee. In addition, formal statements are requested from the 

auditors regarding their autonomy in the execution of services not related to audit. 

 

http://ir.totvs.com/
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Other services were provided in addition to those related to the audit of financial statements in 2017. 

The fees for these services totaled R$277,386 thousand and corresponded to 22.05% of total fees related to 

external audit. 
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COMMENTS GUIDANCE 

 

 

NET REVENUE FROM SOFTWARE SUBSCRIPTION: 

 

Projection of consolidated net revenue from software subscription to be equal to or greater than 

R$298,000 thousand, that is, a growth of 30% or more over the net revenues from software subscription for 

the fiscal year of 2016 

The subscription revenue totaled R$307,866 thousand in 2017, a growth of 34.3% over 2016, which is 

14.3% greater than the minimum growth projected for the fiscal year of 2017. 

The growth in subscription revenue was mainly due to: (i) the higher share of sales to new small and 

medium clients, especially under the TOTVS Intera model; (ii) the Fly01 sales to micro companies; and (iii) the 

sales of Bemacash, solution that combines Fly01 management software and the automation and tax hardware 

solutions from Bematech. 

 

ADJUSTED EBITDA: 

 

Adjusted EBITDA between R$359,000 thousand and R$395,000 thousand in 2017, that is, a growth 

between 0% and 10%, respectively, over the Adjusted EBITDA for the fiscal year of 2016. 

Adjusted EBITDA totaled R$303,498 thousand in 2017, down 15.4% over 2016. 

This projection of Adjusted EBITDA was based on the assumption of costs and expenses dilution as a 

consequence of the net revenue growth, excluding non-recurring revenues, costs and expenses. However, this 

dilution were negatively impacted by: 

(i) The more than proportional increase in commercial expenses due to the transition to the 

subscription model; 

(ii) The growth of general and administrative expenses, mainly due to the adjustment of inflation of 

costs and the additional expenses with the integration of the operations of companies acquired in 

previous periods;  

(iii) The decline in services income due to the reduced allocation of professionals; and 

(iv) The decline in contribution margin from hardware, especially on account of the decline in fiscal 

printer sales and less tax subsidy 

For these reasons, on November 8, 2017, the Company announced to its shareholders and the market 

by means of a Material Fact the removal of the Adjusted EBITDA financial projection for 2017. The Company 

emphasizes that the removal of this projection does not exclude from its agenda the constant search for 

operational efficiency. 
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Lb59t9b59b¢ !¦5L¢hwΩ{ w9thw¢ hb ¢I9 INDIVIDUAL AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

 
 

The Shareholders, Board of Directors and Officers 

TOTVS S.A. 

São Paulo, SP 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying individual and consolidated financial statements of TOTVS S.A. 

όά/ƻƳǇŀƴȅέύΣ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ŀƴŘ /ƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘŜŘΣ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘƛǾŜƭȅΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎŜ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ 

financial position as at December 31, 2017 and the statement of profit or loss, of comprehensive income (loss), 

of changes in equity and of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 

practices and other explanatory information. 

 

In our opinion, the individual and consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in 

all material respects, the individual and consolidated financial position of TOTVS S.A. as at December 31, 2017, 

and its individual and consolidated financial performance and individual and consolidated cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil and with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

 

Basis for opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Brazilian and International standards on auditing. Our 

ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘƻǎŜ ǎǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ŀǊŜ ŦǳǊǘƘŜǊ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ά!ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŀǳŘƛǘ ƻŦ 

ƛƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘŜŘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎέ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ our report. We are independent of the Company 

and its subsidiaries in accordance with the ethical requirements provided for in the Code of Ethics for 

tǊƻŦŜǎǎƛƻƴŀƭ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘŀƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻŦŜǎǎƛƻƴŀƭ ǎǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ƛǎǎǳŜŘ ōȅ .ǊŀȊƛƭΩǎ bŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ {ǘŀte 

Boards of Accountancy (CFC), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to support 

our opinion. 

  

Key audit matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 

of the overall individual and consolidated financial statements, and in forming our opinion on the individual 

and consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we did not express a separate opinion on these matters. For 

each matter below, a description of how our audit has addressed the matter, including any comments on the 

results of our procedures, is presented in the context of the financial statements taken as a whole. 
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²Ŝ ƘŀǾŜ ŦǳƭŦƛƭƭŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ά!ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŀǳŘƛǘ ƻŦ 

individual and consolidŀǘŜŘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎέ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ǘƘƻǎŜ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜǎŜ ƪŜȅ ŀǳŘƛǘ ƳŀǘǘŜǊǎΦ 

Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the 

risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our procedures, including those 

ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŜŘ ǘƻ ŀŘŘǊŜǎǎ ǘƘŜ ƳŀǘǘŜǊǎ ōŜƭƻǿΣ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ǘƘŜ ōŀǎƛǎ ŦƻǊ ƻǳǊ ŀǳŘƛǘ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƛƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭ 

and consolidated financial statements. 

 

Measurement of unbilled revenue 

 

The unbilled revenue of the Company and its subsidiaries comprises software consulting and 

implementation services, whose consolidated balance of R$ 60 million represents approximately 2.7% of net 

revenue for the year 2017. These revenues are measured and recorded at each accounting closing period 

based on the hours incurred in rendering services and prices charged in the respective contracts with their 

customers, on a cumulative basis, and not yet billed. In the month following that of the initial recording, the 

balance is reversed and a new measurement and recognition is carried out based on the new amount of hours 

incurred, on a cumulative basis, and not yet billed. In view of the importance of maintaining adequate 

information technology infrastructure, primarily to ensure the integrity of the accumulated hours used in the 

calculations, combined with the existence of manual inputs required to record these revenues, we consider 

this area as one of the key audit matters. 

 

Our auditing procedures related to the recording of unbilled revenue of the Company and its 

subsidiaries included, among others: 

 

ω Understanding of the process, risks and controls implemented by management in regard to the 

recording of the balance of revenues to be billed; 

ω Tests of internal controls related to the general information technology control environment, including 

controls on access management and changes onto systems and their data; 

ω Recalculation of unbilled revenue based on hours accrued and not yet billed, and discussions on 

variations, if any, in the amount of unbilled revenue recognized at the year end and that present themselves 

in a way that is different from our expectations; 

  

ω Sampling test of the projects included in the calculation of unbilled revenue in order to verify the 

reasonability of the hours used in the calculation as a result of their keying into the system and documentary 

inspection of the contractual terms for the selected projects to reach a conclusion on the adequate valuation 

of the hours recognized in the yearend. 

ω Sampling tests on the estimated versus realized amounts for certain months of fiscal year 2017 for 

purposes of identifying possible distortions in the estimation process conducted by management; 

ω We assessed the adequacy of the respective disclosures of the Company in regard to unbilled revenue 

in Note 6. 

 

In addition, we have read contracts entered into with customers on sales of software and hardware and 

crosschecked the terms and conditions of these contracts with the criteria for recognition of unbilled revenue 

by the Company. As a result of this procedure, we identified an adjustment indicating the need to complement 

the balances of unbilled reǾŜƴǳŜ ŀǘ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅ .ŜƳŀǘŜŎƘ {Φ!ΦΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǿŀǎ ƴƻǘ ǊŜŎƻǊŘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 
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management. Given the immateriality of these amounts in relation to the overall financial statements, 

referred audit adjustment did not result in any change in our audit strategy. 

 

.ŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ŀǳŘƛǘ ǇǊƻŎŜŘǳǊŜǎ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŜŘ ƻƴ ǳƴōƛƭƭŜŘ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀǊŜ ŎƻƴǎƛǎǘŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ 

ŀǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘΣ ǿŜ ǳƴŘŜǊǎǘŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎǳƳǇǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŎŀƭŎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴǎ ǳǎŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ƛƴ 

measuring unbilled revenue, as well as the respective disclosures in Note 6, are acceptable in regard to the 

individual and consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

Provisions and contingent liabilities - tax, labor and civil matters 

 

The Company and its subsidiaries figure as defendants in tax, civil and labor lawsuits arising from the 

ordinary course of business, whose total balance of the provision recorded in the consolidated financial 

statements in noncurrent liabilities totals R$ 117.8 million at December 31, 2017, Note 19 to the financial 

statements. 

 

Due to the significance, complexity, and judgment calls involved in assessing the likelihood of loss of 

each lawsuit, as well as estimating the amount of losses of those suits assessed as probable losses, and also 

the timing for recognition, measurement and disclosures related to Provisions and Contingent Liabilities, we 

consider this a key matter to our audit. 

 

Our audit procedures included, among others: 

 

ω Understanding based on discussions with management and its legal counsel and outside lawyers on 

the ongoing lawsuits, risks and controls implemented by management with respect to provisions and 

contingent liabilities; 

ω Sending letters of confirmation to the outside lawyers engaged by management inquiring of them on 

the prospects regarding cases under their responsibility and amounts involved in each claim to which the 

Company is party, and crosschecking them with the corresponding accounting recorded at December 31, 2017; 

ω Tests of internal controls related to provisions and contingent liabilities that support the preparation 

of the financial statements and their disclosures, as well as a crosscheck of the records maintained by the 

Company with confirmations obtained from outside lawyers. 

ω Arithmetic validation tests of the amounts accrued by the Company as at December 31, 2017 in 

comparison with the controls used to determine the estimates for the ongoing claims whose likelihood of loss 

was assessed as probable by management. 

 

Based on the results of the audit procedures performed on the balances of provisions and contingent 

ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀǊŜ ŎƻƴǎƛǎǘŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘΣ ǿŜ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŎǊƛǘŜǊƛŀ ŀƴŘ ŀǎǎǳƳǇǘƛƻƴǎ 

for the assessment of the likelihood of loss adopted by management for accounting for a provision, as well as 

the respective disclosures in Note 19, are acceptable in regard to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
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Goodwill impairment analysis 

 

The Company has a balance of goodwill in its statement of financial position at December 31, 2017 of 

R$ 280 million - individual and R$ 654 million - consolidated (Note 13 to the financial statements), representing 

12% of total assets (individual) and 26% of total assets (consolidated) on that date. The Company performed 

a goodwill impairment test to verify whether its recoverable amount was lower than its carrying amount and 

concluded that there was no need to record goodwill impairment losses. 

 

This test is performed based on the business plan and cash flow projections approved by the Board of 

Directors. The assumptions used in this procedure are disclosed in Note 13.2. 

 

The monitoring of this matter was deemed significant to our audit, since the process of assessing the 

recoverability of goodwill is complex, entails a high degree of subjectivity and is based on several assumptions 

including, among others: projection of revenues, cost and operating expenses, capital expenditures, discount 

rates and growth rates. These assumptions may be materially affected by the market conditions or future 

economic scenarios of Brazil that may not be confirmed in the future. 

 

Our audit procedures included, among others: 

 

ω 9Ǿŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎǊƛǘŜǊƛŀ ǳǎŜŘ ǘƻ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦȅ ŀƴŘ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜ ǘƘŜ ǊŜŎƻǾŜǊŀōƭŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ ŎŀǎƘ-

generating units; 

ω With the assistance of our corporate finance experts, we evaluated the key assumptions adopted in 

the discounted cash flows used by management, including expectations of revenue growth, costs and 

expenses, discount rate and profit margins; 

ω We compared the budgets of the entity prepared and approved in the previous year with their actual 

amounts calculated in order to evaluate the historical accuracy of the budgeting process; 

ω In addition, we compared the recoverable amount calculated based on the discounted cash flows, per 

cash generating unit, with their respective accounting balances and we assessed the adequacy of the 

disclosures made in the financial statements. 

 

  

Based on the audit procedures performed in the impairment test of intangible assets and goodwill, 

ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀǊŜ ŎƻƴǎƛǎǘŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘΣ ǿŜ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŎǊƛǘŜǊƛŀ ŀƴŘ ŀǎǎǳƳptions of 

impairment of goodwill and intangible assets adopted by management, as well as the respective disclosures 

in Note 13, are acceptable in regard to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

Other matters 

 

Audit of corresponding figures 

 

The individual and consolidated financial statements of TOTVS S.A for the year ended December 31, 

2016 were examined by another independent auditor who issued their report on February 20, 2017 with an 

unmodified opinion on those financial statements. 
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Statements of value added 

 

The individual and consolidated statements of value added for the year ended December 31, 2017, 

ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ƻŦ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΣ ŀƴŘ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ŀǎ ǎǳǇǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŀǊȅ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ 

for IFRS purposes, were submitted to audit procedures performed in conjunction with the audit of the 

Company's financial statements. For the purpose of forming our opinion, we evaluate whether these 

statements are reconciled with the financial statements and accounting records, as applicable, and whether 

their form and content are in accordance with the criteria set forth in Accounting Pronouncement CPC 09 - 

Statement of Value Added. In our opinion, these statements of value added have been properly prepared, in 

all material respects, in accordance with the criteria set forth in this Accounting Pronouncement and are 

consistent with the overall individual and consolidated financial statements. 

 

Other information accompanying the individual and consolidated financial statements and the 

ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ 

 

The Company management is responsible for such other information, including the Management 

Report. 

 

Our opinion on the individual and consolidated financial statements does not cover the Management 

Report and we do not express any form of audit conclusion on this report. 

 

In connection with the audit of the individual and consolidated financial statements, our responsibility 

is to read the Management Report and, in doing so, consider whether the report is significantly inconsistent 

with the financial statements or with our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise seems to contain 

material misstatements. 

 

If, based on our work, we conclude that there are material misstatements in the Management Report, 

we are required to communicate this matter. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

  

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the individual and 

consolidated financial statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these individual and 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil and in accordance 

with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB), and for such internal controls as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the individual and consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 

ŀǎǎŜǎǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜ ŀǎ ŀ ƎƻƛƴƎ ŎƻƴŎŜǊƴΣ ŘƛǎŎƭƻǎƛƴƎΣ ŀǎ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀōƭŜΣ ƳŀǘǘŜǊǎ related to 

going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 

the Company and its subsidiaries or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Those charged with governance, defined as management, audit committee and board of directors are 

ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜ ŦƻǊ ƻǾŜǊǎŜŜƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊƛŜǎΩ όƛƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘŜŘύ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ 

process. 

 

!ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŀǳŘƛǘ ƻŦ ƛƴŘƛǾƛŘǳŀƭ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀted financial statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the overall individual and 

consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 

ƛǎǎǳŜ ŀƴ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ǘƘŀǘ includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on Auditing 

will always detect material misstatements when they exist. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

As part of the audit conducted in accordance with Brazilian and International standards on auditing, we 

exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

ω Identify and assess risks of material misstatements of the individual and consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve override of internal controls, collusion, forgery, intentional omissions or misrepresentations. 

ω Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜƴŜǎǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅϥǎ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊƛŜǎΩ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭΦ 

ω Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

ω Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 

ǘƘŀǘ Ƴŀȅ Ŏŀǎǘ ǎǳōǎǘŀƴǘƛŀƭ Řƻǳōǘ ŀǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊƛŜǎΩ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜ ŀǎ ŀ ƎƻƛƴƎ ŎƻƴŎŜǊƴΦ 

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw atǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ ƻǳǊ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ǘƻ 

the related disclosures in the individual and consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 

of our ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘΦ IƻǿŜǾŜǊΣ ŦǳǘǳǊŜ ŜǾŜƴǘǎ ƻǊ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ Ƴŀȅ ŎŀǳǎŜ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊƛŜǎ ǘƻ 

cease to continue as a going concern. 

ω Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the individual and consolidated financial statements represent the corresponding 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, of the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

controls that we identify during our audit. 
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We also provided those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and communicated with them all relationships 

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we are required to determine 

those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and 

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe ǘƘŜǎŜ ƳŀǘǘŜǊǎ ƛƴ ƻǳǊ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘΣ ǳƴƭŜǎǎ ƭŀǿ ƻǊ ǊŜƎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 

matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 

São Paulo, February 05, 2018 

 

 

ERNST & YOUNG 

Auditores Independentes S.S. 

CRC- 2SP034519/O-6 

 

 

 

Luiz Carlos Marques 

Accountant CRC-1SP147693/O-5 
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AUDIT /haaL¢¢99Ω{ REPORT 
 

Introduction 

 

In accordance with its charter, approved by the Board of Directors on August 29, 2017, the Audit 

Committee is incharge of the processes and management of internal and external audit, the mechanisms and 

controls related to risk management and the alignment of the financial policies with the strategic guidelines 

and risk profile of the business, besides ensuring the quality and integrity of the Company's financial 

statements, and making recommendations to the Management regarding the approval of financial reports 

and actions to improve internal controls and reduce risks.  

 

On April 28, 2017, the Board of Directors, after electing new directors at the Shareholders Meeting 

held on April 20, approved changing the membership of the Audit Committee from four members (three 

independent members and one external independent member) to three members (all independent 

members), who are currently in the full exercise of their terms of office.  

Activities of the Audit Committee  

 

  In 2017 the Committee met ten times and at the meeting held on 31 January, 2018, it discussed and 

evaluated the financial statements as at December 31, 2017, placing on record the presence of all members 

in all the meetings held during the period.  In this period, the Audit Committee also held reserved meetings 

periodical with the legal officer, the risk, internal controls and compliance officer and internal audit, as well as 

other meetings with the human resources officer, independent auditors and meetings among the committee 

ƳŜƳōŜǊǎΦ !ǘ ŜŀŎƘ ƻǊŘƛƴŀǊȅ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΣ ŀ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 

previous period was presented by the Committee Coordinator and discussed with the directors. 

Topics discussed by the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee held meetings with vice presidents, executive officers, internal auditors, 

independent auditors and external advisors to understand the processes, internal controls, risks, possible 

weaknesses and any plans for improvement, and to submit its recommendations to the Board of Directors and 

the Board of Executive Officers. The main aspects discussed were: 

¶ Independent Auditor 
Å Monitored the process of change of external auditors, from the preparation of invitations to the main 

ŀǳŘƛǘ ŦƛǊƳǎΣ ŘƛǎŎǳǎǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǎŎƻǇŜ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜΩǎ ǊŜŎƻƳƳŜƴŘŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 

Directors for contracting the new independent auditor; 

Å Discussed the planning, scope and key findings of the quarterly reviews (ITR) and report on the 

financial statements for fiscal year 2017 (DFP 2017); 

Å Deficiencies and recommendations for improvement mentioned in the internal controls report, as well 

as the respective action plans of internal areas to make the corrections or improvements;  

Å Monitored the preliminary and final results in order to issue the ISAE report 3402/2017;  
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Å Monitored and made recommendations regarding additional services provided by the current and 

previous independent audit firms; and  

Å Annual performance evaluation cycle of independent auditor. 

 

¶ Internal Audit 
Å Held discussions on risk matrix and approval of internal audit schedule for 2017/2018 cycle; 

Å Monitored internal audit work reports issued for own units and franchises, including weaknesses, 

justifications and correction plans; 

Å Monitored compliance with the schedule, scope of hours and findings of investigations held in special 

actions; and 

Å Annual performance evaluation cycle of the head of the internal audit department. 

 

¶ Internal controls, corporate risk management, compliance and ombudsman  
Å Monitored the plan of internal controls to map processes, key controls and indicators; 
Å Discussed and evaluated the description of the risk factors in the Reference Form, considering the 

previous strategic risks map of the Company; 

Å Discussed and assessed the new strategic risks map of the Company, monitored the mitigation plans 

together with those responsible for its execution, for later description of the risk factors while 

updating the Reference Form; 

Å Monitored action plans to improve the information technology general controls (ITGC), access profiles 

and segregation of functions; 

Å 5ƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ ŀƴŘ ƳƻƴƛǘƻǊŜŘ ǘƘŜ Ǉƛƭƻǘ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ ǊŜŦƻǊƳǳƭŀǘŜ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ ōȅ 

processes and indicators;  

Å Monitored the implementation of action plans to comply with the integrity program established by 

Company Management; 

Å Monitored the adoption of compliance policies and practices by management and employees; and 

Å Monitored the results ƻŦ ǘƘŜ bt{ όbŜǘ tǊƻƳƻǘŜǊ {ŎƻǊŜύ ǎǳǊǾŜȅ ŀƴŘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ƛƴƛǘƛŀǘƛǾŜǎ ǘƻ 

improve customer satisfaction with the services provided by the Company. 

 

¶ Financial management, provisions and indicators 
Å Discussed, improved and monitored the application of the credit analysis policy, collections 

procedures and estimates of losses with doubtful accounts; 

Å Monitored the new financial management model for software and hardware businesses;  

Å Evaluated compliance with CVM Resolution 594/2009 regarding provisions, as well as contingent 

liabilities and assets; 

Å 5ƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ ŀƴŘ ƳƻƴƛǘƻǊŜŘ ǘƘŜ Ƴŀƛƴ ƭŜƎŀƭ ŎƭŀƛƳǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ƧǳŘƎƳŜƴǘ ƻƴ ƻǳǘŎƻƳŜǎΦ 

Monitored the evolution of the controls environment in the legal department, mainly related to the 

management of lawsuits;  

Å Discussed and monitored the procedures adopted for reviewing annual impairment tests and 

recoverability of deferred tax assets; 

Å Discussed and monitored the efforts to adopt the amended international accounting standards (IFRS 

15, 9 and 16 pursuant to CPC Technical Pronouncements 47, 48 and 6, respectively);  

Å Discussed and monitored the debenture issue, with recommendation of approval by the Board of 

Directors; and  
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Å Monitored and made recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding grant of loans to 

franchisees. 

 

¶ Corporate Governance 
Å Submitted opinion for approval by the Board of Directors of quarterly and annual financial statements; 

Å Evaluated and recommended the approval of proposals for the declaration and distribution of interest 

on equity; 

Å Held discussions on improving the long-term incentive model for the Company's executives from the 

ǇŜǊǎǇŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƻŦ Ǌƛǎƪǎ ƻŦ ǊŜǘŜƴǘƛƻƴΣ ƳƻǘƛǾŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ŀƭƛƎƴƳŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ Ǿƛǎƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅΤ 

Å Discussed the terms used in notices, material fact notices and earnings presentations to the market; 

Å Monitored and made recommendations to the Board of Directors and management regarding 

initiatives and operations involving mergers and acquisitions, as well as the merger of wholly-owned 

subsidiaries, and assessed the risks in these operations; 

Å Discussed and monitored the process of updating of the Reference Form; 

Å Discussed the content and made recommendations for the proposed Integrated Report of the 

company; 

Å CƻƭƭƻǿŜŘ ǳǇ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ǉǳŜǎǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎŜǎ ǊŜƎŀǊŘƛƴƎ ƻŦŦƛŎƛŀl letters from regulatory 

agencies and self-regulatory authorities; 

Å Reviewed and made improvements to rules for executing the crisis management plan; 

Å Reviewed and discussed a new hierarchy for policies, standards and procedures, governance and 

approval authority for standards, reviewed current policies and made recommendations for drafting 

new policies;  

Å Reviewed, discussed and recommended approval by the Board of Directors and the dissemination of 

the following policies: (a) Preparation and Publication of Standards; (b) Related party transactions; (c) 

Corporate Information Security; (d) Commercial and Institutional Relations with Public Entities; (e) 

Management of Risks and Internal Controls; (f) Litigation Management; (g) Corporate Compliance; and 

(h) Credit and Collections; 

Å Monitored the activities of the Ethics and Conduct Committee and evaluated the complaints received 

and the measures taken by Management;   

Å Monitored the activities and evaluated the topics discussed at the tax committee; 

Å Management and ƎƻǾŜǊƴŀƴŎŜ ŀǎǇŜŎǘǎ ƻŦ ¢h¢±{Ω ŦǊŀƴŎƘƛǎŜ ƴŜǘǿƻǊƪΤ  

Å Evaluated and monitored the adequacy of transactions with related parties; and  

Å Annual self-assessment cycle of the Audit Committee. 

 

Report of the Audit Committee  

Annual Financial Statements for 2017: 

The members of the Audit Committee of TOTVS S.A., in the exercise of their legal responsibilities 

and powers, pursuant to the Charter of the Audit Committee, examined and analyzed the financial 

statements, accompanied by the report from the independent auditors and the annual report from 

aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǎŎŀƭ ȅŜŀǊ ŜƴŘŜŘ 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ омΣ нлмт όά!ƴƴǳŀƭ CƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ {ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŦƻǊ нлмтέύ ŀƴŘΣ 

considering the information provided by Management of the Company and by EY Auditores 

Independentes, as well as the proposed allocation of the earnings from fiscal year 2017, unanimously 
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concluded that these adequately reflect, in all relevant aspects, the equity and financial position of the 

Company and its subsidiaries, and recommended that the Board of Directors of the Company approve 

said documents and submit them to the Annual Shareholders Meeting, in accordance with Brazilian 

Corporation Law. 

                                         

 

São Paulo, February 5, 2018 

 
 
 

Gilberto Mifano 

Coordinator of the Audit Committee and member of the Board of Directors 

 

 

 

Mauro Rodrigues da Cunha 
Member of the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
Henrique Andrade Trinckquel Filho 
Member of the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors 
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TOTVS S.A. 

Balance sheets as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 
 (In thousands of reais) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 Parent Company  Consolidated   Parent Company  Consolidated 

Assets 2017  2016  2017  2016  Liabilities and equity 2017  2016  2017  2016 

                 
Current assets      712,940    565,602    1,038,346     951,736  Current liabilities      486,735   465,130      619,286   624,197 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5)      305,920    112,504        387,169    214,772   Payroll and labor obligations (Note 14)      117,635    105,243       148,836     140,539 
Marketable securities (Note 18)         28,512    32,165           44,615    74,027   Trade accounts payable         66,812    41,844       108,424     73,553 
Trade accounts receivable (Note 6)      359,904    394,382        515,545    569,370   Taxes payable (Note 15)         20,818    17,293         28,725    28,141  
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 6)       (73,469)  (84,293)        (89,032)  (105,183)  Commissions payable         33,798    38,343         39,769    43,198  
Stocks (Note 7) -    -             44,828    28,219   Dividends payable (Note 21)         18,015    41,097         18,487    41,561  
Taxes recoverable (Note 8)         56,571   72,993          93,097     122,521    Loans and financing (Note 16) 191,810    180,294  220,215    196,012 
Other assets 35,502    37,851          42,124     48,010  Debentures (Note 16)           3,841    -           3,841   12,111  

         Liabilities from acquisition of investments (Note 18)         31,459   38,960        47,561   80,822 

         Other liabilities           2,547   2,056          3,428   8,260 
Noncurrent assets     1,626,849  1,642,705    1,455,279   1,492,176          

Marketable securities (Note 18)                  -      4,676             7,013    11,137   Noncurrent liabilities 591,660  521,989  612,761  598,799 

Trade accounts receivable (Note 6)         30,999    35,842           31,901    36,913   Loans and financing (Note 16) 182,264    339,207  182,341    365,729 

Receivables from related parties (Note 10)           6,721    1,644                    -      -     Debentures (Note 17)      265,297    58,784      265,297    78,550  

Taxes recoverable (Note 8) -   -             20,695    21,572   Provision for losses on investments (Note 11)           1,005    1,208                  -      -    
Deferred income and social contribution taxes 
(Note 9)         44,889   30,449       104,715   88,658  Payables to related parties  (Note 10)         13,428    13,247                  -      -    

Financial assets (Note 4) -   -          57,645    56,800   

Provision for contingencies related to legal proceedings 
(Note 19) 110,782   85,323   117,770     102,225 

Judicial deposits (Note 19)         49,207    29,846   61,127           40,903   Liabilities from acquisition of investments (Note 18)         13,297    17,828   
        

41,886     45,886 

Other assets         21,184    23,420   26,844          30,437  Other liabilities           5,587    6,392           5,467    6,409  
                         

Investments (Note 11) 893,688    976,201            2,349    1,350   Equity  (Note 20)   1,261,394   1,221,188  

  
1,261,577   1,220,916 

Property, plant and equipment (Note 12)      163,834     154,126       182,022   176,270  Capital      989,841    541,374       989,841    541,374  
Intangible assets (Note 13)      416,327    386,501        960,968   1,028,136   Treasury shares        (71,495)   (73,443)     (71,495)   (73,443) 
         Capital reserves       165,079   162,024      165,079    162,024  

         Other comprehensive income            1,728    1,785           1,728    1,785  

         Retained profit reserve      170,799   582,073   170,799   582,073 

         Proposed additional dividend            5,442        7,375   5,442        7,375  

                 

         Noncontrolling interests -     -  183  (272) 
                 

Total assets 2,339,789  2,208,307  2,493,625  2,443,912  Total liabilities and equity 2,339,789  2,208,307  2,493,625  2,443,912 
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TOTVS S.A. 

Income statements 

Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 
(In thousands of reais, except by the earnings per share)                                                               

 
 

Parent Company  Consolidated 

 
 

2017  2016  2017  2016 

Licensing fees  
        134,883  

 125,873  
        166,660  

 167,759 

Maintenance 
 

        856,059    853,505       1,009,836    1,000,753  
Subscriptions          188,089    124,166           307,866    229,235  
Services 

 
        403,737  

 
 416,144  

 
        508,549  

 
 541,848  

Hardware                     -      -             234,419    244,191  

Net revenue from services and sales (Note 25) 
 

    1,582,768    1,519,688       2,227,330    2,183,786  
 

 
       

Cost of software           (76,217)   (66,772)          (86,590)   (77,284) 
Cost of support          (81,457)   (75,448)        (132,096)   (130,540) 
Cost of services        (411,921)  (401,760)        (496,784)    (506,545) 
Cost of hardware                      -      -           (148,006)   (162,409) 

Gross profit 
 

    1,013,173   975,708      1,363,854     1,307,008 
 

 
       

Operating income (expenses) 
 

       
Research and development  

 

      (249,153)   (231,638)        (357,093)   (326,546) 
Advertising expenses  

 
        (42,772)   (35,391)          (49,800)   (47,029) 

Selling expenses  
 

      (143,734)   (121,547)        (234,246)   (203,818) 
Commissions (Note 26) 

 
      (124,056)   (118,758)        (147,573)   (139,639) 

General and administrative expenses  
 

      (170,360)   (140,729)        (227,484)   (204,532) 
Management fees (Note 10) 

 
        (19,248)   (15,673)          (21,961)   (19,176) 

Depreciation and amortization (Notes 12 and 13) 
 

        (97,724)   (79,278)        (147,574)   (128,350) 
Allowances for doubtful accounts (Note 6) 

 
        (23,777)   (41,542)          (36,695)   (49,197) 

Government subsidy                     -     -              6,275   10,639 
Other net operating income (expenses)  

 
                405   9,776            (4,035)  12,893 

Income before financial effects and equity pickup          142,754   200,928          143,668   212,253 
         
Financial income (Note 27)            33,665    48,400             50,643    74,251  
Financial expenses (Note 27)          (75,583)  (80,029)          (90,090)  (110,983) 
Equity pick-up (Note 11)             (8,519)  (4,737)                 (69)   -    

Income before income tax and social contribution             92,317   164,562          104,152   175,521 
          
   Income tax and social contribution - current           (13,106)   (15,329)          (26,743)   (38,260) 
   Income tax and social contribution - deferred             13,770    3,425             15,849    15,008  

Total of Income tax and social contribution (Note 9)                  664   (11,904)          (10,894)  (23,252) 
         

Net income for the year            92,981          152,658   93,258     152,269 

        
 

Net income attributable to the owners of company            92,981           152,658             92,981   152,658 
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest                     -                        -                   277    (389) 
         
Basic earnings per thousand shares (in Reais)  0.5691  0.9344  0.5708  0.9321 
Diluted earnings per thousand shares (in Reais)  0.5645  0.9291  0.5662  0.9267 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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TOTVS S.A. 

Statements of comprehensive income 
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 
(In thousands of Reais )           

 
 Parent Company 

 2017  2016 

    

Net income for the year           92,981   152,658 

Cumulative adjustment for currency exchange                 (86)   (29,610) 

Deferred income tax                    29    10,066  

Cumulative adjustment for currency exchange, net of tax effects                 (57)   (19,544) 

Comprehensive income for the year           92,924      133,114 

             
 

 Consolidated 

 2017  2016 

    

Net income for the year       93,258      152,269 

Cumulative adjustment for currency exchange             (86)   (29,610) 

Deferred income tax                29    10,066  

Cumulative adjustment for currency exchange, net of taxes 

effects          (57)   (19,544) 

Comprehensive income for the year       93,201   132,725 

Net income for the year attributable to controlling shareholders       92,924   133,114 

Attributable to non-controlling interest            277   (389)  

                                           
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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TOTVS S.A.        (A free translation of the original in Portuguese) 

Statements of changes in equity  

Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016      

(In thousands of reais)           

 Capital 

Premium on 

purchase 

from non-

controlling 

Reserves  

Other  

Comprehensive 

Income 

Retained 

earnings 

Proposed 

additional  

dividend Equity 

Non- 

Controlling 

Consolidated  

Equity  Capital  Legal 

Retained 

profits  

Share 

Treasury 

Balance at December 31, 2015 541,374 (25,518) 184,731 71,737 448,466 (71,012) 21,329 - 66,579 1,237,686 46 1,237,732 

Capital transactions with partners       -       

Stock option plan  -    - 2,811 - - - - - -  2,811  -  2,811  

Dividends of previous year  -    - - - - - - - (66,579) (66,579) - (66,579) 

Dividends and interest on equity, time-

barred  -    - - - - - - 807 - 807    - 807    

Dividends  -    - - - - - - (7,375) 7,375  -    -  -    

Interest on equity ï distributed  -    - - - - - - (84,220) -  (84. 220) -  (84,220) 

Treasury shares  -    - - - - (2,431) - - -  (2,431) -  (2,431) 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 71 71 

Total comprehensive income  -    - - - - - (19,544) 152,658 - 133,114   (389)   132,725 

Net income for the year  -    - - - - - - 152,658 -  152,658  (389)    152,269 

Cumulative adjustment for currency 

exchange  -    - - - - - (19,544) - -  (19,544) -  (19,544) 

Reserves set up  -    - - 7,633 54,237 - - (61,870)  -  - - 

Balance at December 31, 2016 541,374  (25,518) 187,542 79,370 502,703 (73,443) 1,785 - 7,375 1,221,188 (272) 1,220,916 

Capital transactions with partners              

 Capital increase 448,467 - - - (448,467) - - - - - 298 298 

Stock option plan  -    - 4,950 - - 53 - - - 5,003 - 5,003 

Dividends of previous year  -    - - - - - - - (7,375) (7,375) - (7,375) 

Dividends  -    - - - - - - (5,442) 5,442  -    (120) (120)    

Interest on equity ï distributed  -    - - - - - - (50,346) - (50,346) - (50,346) 

Treasury shares  -    - (1,895) - - 1,895 - - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income  -    - - - - - (57) 92,981 - 92,924 277 93,201 

Net income for the year  -    - - - - - - 92,981 - 92,981 277 93,258 

Cumulative adjustment for currency 

exchange  -    - - - - - (57) - - (57) - (57) 

Reserves set up    4,649 32,544   (37.193)  -  - 

Balance at December 31, 2017 989,841 (25,518) 190,597 84,019 86,780 (71,495) 1,728 - 5,442 1,261,394 183 1,261,557 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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TOTVS S.A. 
Statement of cash flow 
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016     

(In thousands of Reais)              

  Parent Company  Consolidated 

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

Cash flow from operating activities        
Profit before taxation income and social contribution       92,317      164,562    104,152   175,521 

Adjustments for:        

Depreciation and amortization ( Notes 12 and 13)  97,724    79,278     150,894    131,664  

Share-based payments (Note 22)          4,950    2,811        4,950    2,811  

     Losses (gains) on disposal of fixed assets 1,498   (7,169)        3,258   (8,005) 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 6)       23,777    41,542       36,695    49,197  

Equity pickup (Note 11)         8,519   4,737             69    -    

Provision for contingencies (Note 19)        35,970   32,635   34,046   32,616 

Provision for (reversal of) other obligations and others 5,383    -     5,671    2,376  

Interest and monetary and exchange variations, net 60,152   65,080  61,388     68,400 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:        

Trade accounts receivable 13,373   (3,598)  5,991   (20,202) 

Stocks -      -     (16,609)   12,234  

Other assets 14,824  
 

  (20,013) 
 

16,437  
 

(14,447) 

Judicial deposits (17,365)   1,842   (18,185)   2,504  

Labor and social security liabilities 10,456     6,053  8,297     7,387 

Taxes recoverable       12,211     (45,320)      25,865     (44,928) 

Suppliers (546)    3,833  9,696     (14,079) 

Commissions payable (6,087)   (13,829)  (3,429)   (13,381) 

Taxes payable (151)    (2,810)       (8,105)    (11,946) 

Other accounts payable (21,115)  (16,325)     (29,535) 
 

 (27,020) 

Cash flow provided by operations 335,890   293,309   391,547   330,702  

Interest paid (36,181)   (43,725)  (43,721)   (53,098) 

Income tax and social contributions paid (9,600)   (6,519)  (18,054)   (17,096) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 290,109   243,065   329,772   260,508  

Cash flow provided by investment activities        

Capital increase in subsidiaries (Note 11) (13,169)   (34,211)  (997)   (1,439) 

Dividends received 11,673   24,438  -      -    

Purchases of intangible assets (Note 13) (14,886)   (34,061)  (20,725)   (49,938) 

Cash and cash equivalents of merged subsidiaries 7,814  -  -  - 

Value of sales of fixed assets 1,876  1,127  2,072  1,560 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (Note 12) (21,880)  (49,725)  (30,662)  (55,209) 

Amount received on sale of investments  -  6,277  -  6,277 

Net cash used in investment activities  (28,572)  (86,155)  (50,312)  (98,749) 

Cash flow from financing activities        

Payment of principal on loans and financing (168,242)   (166,262)  (182,354)  (175,013) 

Payment of principal on debentures  -      (48,002)  (29,436)   (60,982) 

Payment of financial leasing (18,142)   (994)  (18,321)   (994) 

Issue of debentures and new loans and financing 199,475   -     199,475    7,368  

Receivables from related companies (4,896)   202                -      -    

Dividends and interest on equity paid (76,369)   (141,324)  (76,480)  (141,350) 

Treasury shares, net 53    (2,431)  53    (2,431) 

 Net cash used in financing activities (68,121)  (358,811)  (107,063)  (373,402) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 193,416  (201,901)  172,397  (211,643) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 112,504    314,405   214,772    426,415  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of  the year 305,920    112,504   387,169    214,772  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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TOTVS S.A. 
Statement of Value Added 
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 

(In thousands of Reais) 

 

  Parent Company  Consolidated 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

         
1 ï REVENUES           1,759,104    1,678,839    2,482,079   2,437,985  

     1.1 Sales of goods, products and services           1,782,477    1,710,606    2,516,533   2,466,074  

     1.2 Other revenue                      404    9,775           2,241    21,108  

     1.3 Allowance for doubtful accounts ï recording            (23,777)   (41,542)      (36,695)   (49,197) 

         
2 - RAW MATERIALS ACQUIRED FROM THIRD-PARTIES  

       (includes ICMS and IPI taxes)            (561,539)   (540,518)   (857,486)  (874,117) 

     2.1 Cost of goods and services sold             (76,221)   (66,772)   (227,759)   (258,903) 

     2.2 Materials, energy, outsourced services and other            (485,318)   (473,746)   (629,727)   (615,214) 

         
3 - GROSS VALUE ADDED (1-2)           1,197,565   1,138,321    1,624,593   1,563,868 

         
4 - DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION             (97,724)  (79,278)   (150,894)  (131,664) 

         
5 - NET VALUE ADDED PRODUCED BY THE ENTITY (3-4)           1,099,841   1,059,043    1,473,699   1,432,204 

         
6 - VALUE ADDED RECEIVED THROUGH TRANSFERS                25,146     43,663         50,573    74,251  

     6.1 Equity pick-up              (8,519)    (4,737)            (69)   -    

     6.2 Financial income                33,665    48,400         50,643    74,251  

         
7 - TOTAL VALUE ADDED TO DISTRIBUTE (5+6)           1,124,987   1,102,706    1,524,273   1,506,455 

         
8 - VALUE ADDED DISTRIBUTION           1,124,987   1,102,706   1,524,273   1,506,455 

     8.1 Personnel              694,120     610,791       933,519   847,305 

          8.1.1 Direct Compensation              564,161    495,244       758,792    689,552  

          8.1.2 Benefits                78,015    70,315        105,808    98,653  

          8.1.3 FGTS (workerôs severance pay fund)                51,944    45,232          68,919    59,100  

     8.2 Taxes and contributions              234,848     234,589      364,155     356,809 

          8.2.1 Federal              191,908    192,879        284,667    279,370  

          8.2.2 State                        20    1          25,017    23,874  

          8.2.3 Local                42,920    41,709          54,471    53,565  

     8.3 Interest and rent              103,038   104,668       133,341   150,072 

          8.3.1 Interest                75,583     80,029        90,090     110,984 

          8.3.2 Rents                27,455    24,639          43,251    39,722  

          8.3.3 Others     -        (634) 
     8.4 Equity remuneration                92,981   152,658         93,258      152,269 

          8.4.1 Interest on equity                50,346    84,220        50,346   84,220 

          8.4.2 Dividends paid or credited to shareholders                5,442    7,375             5,442    7,375    

          8.4.3 Retained profit / loss for the year  37,193     61,063  37,193     61,063 

          8.4.4 Minority interest in retained profts                          -      -                 277    (389) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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TOTVS S.A. 
Notes to the financial statements  
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016  
(In thousands of Reais, unless otherwise stated) 

 
1. The Company and its operations 

 
a) General Information 

 
¢h¢±{ {Φ!Φ όά¢h¢±{έΣ ƻǊ ά/ƻƳǇŀƴȅέύ ƛǎ ŀ ǇǳōƭƛŎƭȅ ƘŜƭŘ ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƘŜŀŘǉǳŀǊǘŜǊŜŘ ŀǘ !ǾΦ 

Braz Leme, 1000, in the city and state of São Paulo, whose shares are traded on the Novo Mercado 
of BM&FBOVESPA - Securities, Commodities and Futures Exchange. 

 
b) Operations  

 
¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ objective is to provide business solutions for companies of all sizes, 

through the development and sale of management software, productivity and collaboration 
platform, as well as the provision of implementation, consulting, assistance and maintenance 
services. The Company, through its subsidiaries, also has hardware manufacturing and sale 
activities, combining specialized solutions for system management, point of sale (POS), commercial 
automation, tax solutions, e-commerce, mobility and payment methods. The solutions developed 
by the Company and its subsidiaries are segmented according to the diverse sectors of the 
economy, resulting in greater importance of the solutions in ƻǳǊ ŎƭƛŜƴǘǎΩ business. 

 
 

2. Basis of preparation and presentation of the financial statements 
 

2.1. Compliance statement 
 
The individual and consolidated financial statements were prepared and are presented in 

accordance with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil, including the pronouncements issued 
ōȅ ǘƘŜ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ tǊƻƴƻǳƴŎŜƳŜƴǘǎ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ όά/t/έύ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǊǳƭŜǎ ƛǎǎǳŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ .ǊŀȊƛƭƛŀƴ 
{ŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ /ƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ όά/±aέύ, as well as the International Financial Reporting Standards όάLCw{έύ 
issued by the International AccoǳƴǘƛƴƎ {ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ .ƻŀǊŘ όάL!{.έύ and show all material information 
strictly relating to the financial statements, which are consistent with that used by the 
management. 

 

2.2. Basis of preparation and presentation  
 
The Financial Statements presented in this document were approved at the Board of 

5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ aŜŜǘƛƴƎ ƘŜƭŘ ƻƴ CŜōǊǳŀǊȅ 5, 2018, after a recommendation by the Audit Committee at 
a meeting held on January 31, 2018. 

 
The financial statements were prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the valuation 

of certain assets and liabilities, such as financial instruments from business combinations, which 
are measured at their fair value. The individual and consolidated financial statements present 
comparative information in relation to the previous period. 
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All the amounts in these Financial Statements are in thousands of Brazilian reais, unless 
otherwise stated. Due to rounding, the numbers in the document may not add exactly to the totals 
presented herein. 

 
Moreover, the Company considered the guidelines issued under Accounting Guidance  

OCPC07 when preparing its financial statements. Therefore, the relevant information pertaining 
specifically to the financial statements is highlighted and corresponds to that used by the 
Management in managing the company. 

 
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates and judgment calls by Company management in applying the accounting policies of 
TOTVS S.A.  

Estimates and assumptions that show significant risk and that need a higher level of 
judgment and have a great degree of complexity for the /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ financial statements are:  

 
(i) Allowance for doubtful accounts ς Note 6; 
(ii) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets, including goodwill ς Note 13.2; 
(iii) Deferred taxes ς Note 9.3;  
(iv) Provision for contingencies related to legal proceedings ς Note 19.  
 
Settlement of the transactions involving these estimates could result in amounts that differ 

significantly from those recorded in the financial statements due to the treatment of uncertainties 
inherent to the estimate process. The company revises its estimates at least annually. 

 
More information on the estimates and assumptions used in the items mentioned above is 

provided in the respective notes. 
 
The pronouncements, interpretations and reviews of CPCs/IFRS that came into effect from 

2017 did not have any significant impact on the Company's financial statements. 
 

2.3.   Consolidation basis 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the operations of the Company and the 

following subsidiaries and associate companies. The percentages of the interests held by the 
Company on the balance sheet date are summarized below: 

 
Direct interest:   % Interest 

Corporate Name Head office Name used Note 2017  2016 

TOTVS Serviços Ltda. BRA TOTVS Serviços  100.00  100.00 
TOTVS Nordeste Software Ltda. BRA TOTVS Nordeste  100.00  100.00 
TOTVS Brasília Software Ltda. BRA TOTVS Brasília  100.00  100.00 
TQTVD Software Ltda. BRA TQTVD  100.00  100.00 
TOTVS Ventures Participações Ltda. BRA TOTVS Ventures  100.00  100.00 
TOTVS Argentina S.A. ARG TOTVS Argentina  100.00  100.00 
Datasul Argentina S.A. ARG Datasul Argentina  100.00  100.00 
TOTVS México S.A. MEX TOTVS México  100.00  100.00 
Datasul S.A. de CV. MEX Datasul México  100.00  100.00 
TOTVS Corporation BVI TOTVS Corporation  100.00  100.00 
TOTVS Incorporation USA TOTVS Inc.  100.00  100.00 
Virtual Age Soluções em Tecnologia Ltda. BRA Virtual Age (i) -  100.00 
Neolog Consultoria e Sistemas S.A. BRA Neolog  60.00  60.00 
Ciashop - Soluções para Comércio Eletrônico S.A. BRA Ciashop  70.00  70.00 
Bematech S.A.  BRA Bematech  100.00  100.00 
TFS Soluções em software Ltda. BRA TFS (ii) 100.00  - 
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Indirect Interest: 

     % interest 

Corporate Name 
Head 
office 

Name used Investor Note 2017  2016 

DTS Consulting Partner, SA de CV MEX Partner TOTVS México  100.00  100.00 
PC Informática S.A. BRA PC Informática TOTVS Brasília (iii) -  100.00 
RMS Software S.A. BRA RMS TOTVS Nordeste  100.00  100.00 
Webstrategie Software Ltda. BRA Webstrategie RMS  100.00  100.00 
Kerina Software Ltda. BRA Kerina TQTVD  100.00  100.00 
Bematech Hardware Ltda. BRA Bematech Hardware Bematech S.A. (iv) 100.00  - 
Bematech Ásia Co.Ltd. TWN Bematech Ásia Bematech S.A.  100.00  100.00 

Bematech Argentina S.A.  ARG Bematech Argentina 
Bematech S.A. e 
Bematech Inter. Corp. 

 
100.00  100.00 

CMNet Soluções em Informática e Agência de 
Viagens e Turismo S.A. 

BRA CMNet Soluções Bematech S.A. 
 

100.00  100.00 

Bematech Internacional Corp. EUA BIC Bematech S.A.  100.00  100.00 
Logic Controls, Inc  EUA Logic Controls BIC  100.00  100.00 
FICE - Bematech Foshan Shunde Ltd. CHN FICE Logic Controls, Inc  100.00  100.00 
CMNet Participações S.A. BRA CMNet Participações Bematech S.A.  100.00  100.00 
CM Soluciones ς Argentina ARG CMNet Argentina CMNet Participações  100.00  100.00 
CMDIR - Soluções Informática, Lda - Portugal PRT CMNet Portugal CMNet Participações  100.00  100.00 
CM Soluciones ς Chile CHL CMNet Chile CMNet Participações   100.00  100.00 
CMNet España ESP CMNet Espanha CMDIR - Soluções  100.00  100.00 
RJ Participações S.A. BRA RJ Participações Bematech S.A.  100.00  100.00 
R.J. Consultores en Sistemas de Información S.C. MEX RJ México RJ Participações  100.00  100.00 
R.J. Consultores e Informática Ltda. BRA RJ Consultores RJ Participações  100.00  100.00 
National Computer Corporation (associate) RUS JV Russia TOTVS México (v) 19.00  19.00 

 
 

(i) Merger of Virtual Age with TOTVS S.A., as per the minutes of the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting held on 
December 20, 2017 (further details on Note 3). 

  
(ii) Company created in March 2017 for future spin-off of certain software operations. 

 
(iii) PC Informática was merged with TOTVS Brasília on May 1, 2017, in accordance with the Extraordinary Shareholders 

Meeting held on April 28, 2017 (further details on Note 3). 

 
(iv) Company created for the purpose of spinning off hardware operations.  

 
(v) Interest acquired in 2016, with 18.5% through TOTVS México and 0.5% by TOTVS S.A. The investment in this 

company envisages a partnership to develop and launch in the Russian market a management system that combines 
reliability, safety, data integrity, continuity, high performance and scalability already present in TOTVS solutions.  

 
The results of subsidiaries merged during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 

are included in the income statements since the date of their acquisition and/or merger. Hence, 
ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜ ƻŦ ŎƻƳǇŀǊƛǎƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǇŀǊŜƴǘ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ 2017 and 2016, the dates 
of acquisition and merger of the results of each subsidiary must be considered. 

 
All intercompany balances and transactions were eliminated in consolidation. 
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2.4. Summary of significant accounting practices 
 
 
Below is a summary of key accounting practices adopted by the Company, highlighting only 

information considered relevant by Management. 
 

a) Translation of balances denominated in foreign currency 
 

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries domiciled in Brazil is the 
Brazilian Real, the same currency used to prepare and present the parent company and 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
With regard to subsidiaries located abroad considered independent by the Management as 

they have administrative, financial and operating autonomy, their assets and liabilities are 
translated into Brazilian real at the foreign exchange rate on balance sheet closing dates and their 
profit or loss are translated into Brazilian real at the average monthly rates of the periods. 
Adjustments to investments arising from foreign exchange are recognized as cumulative 
translation adjustments under equity. 

 

b) Fair value measurement 

 
The Company measures financial instruments at fair value on each reporting date. Fair value 

is the price that would be received for the sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of a liability 
through an unforced transaction between market players on the measurement date.  

 
Fair value measurement is based on the assumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 

transfer the liabilities will take place: (i)In the main market for the asset or liability; or (ii) In the 
absence of a main market, in the most market advantageous for the asset or the liability. 

 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial 

statements are categorized within the following fair value hierarchy, based on the lowest-level 
information that is significant for the measurement of the fair value as a whole: 

 
Å Level 1 ς Market prices quoted (without adjustments) in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities; 
Å Level 2 ς Valuation techniques for which the lowest-level information that is significant for 

measuring the fair value is directly or indirectly observable; 
Å Level 3 ς Valuation techniques for which the lowest-level information that is significant for 

measuring the fair value is not available. 
 

c) Financial Instruments 
 

Classification 
 
The Company classifies financial assets upon initial recognition into the following categories: 

at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and held of maturity. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
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As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had no financial assets classified as 
available for sale. 

 
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading 

and financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.TOTVS 
maintains investments in companies whose share of the interest is held indirectly through venture 
capital organizations and which are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
(ii) Loans and receivables 

 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. After their initial measurement, these financial 
assets are booked at their amortized cost, using the effective tax rate method, less impairment 
losses. The Company's loans and receivables are mainly composed of "Accounts receivable and 
other receivables" and "cash and cash equivalents." 

 

d) Accounts receivable from customers  
 
Accounts receivable from customers are shown at their net realizable value, and accounts 

receivable from foreign customers are restated using the exchange rates in force at the date of the 
Financial Statements. Accounts receivable maturing after one year are discounted to present value. 

 
Accounts receivable are recognized at nominal value and deducted from the allowance for 

doubtful accounts, which is set up based on the history of losses by maturity range, which the 
Company deems sufficient to cover any losses. 

 

e) Stocks 
 
Stocks are measured at the lowest value between cost and net realizable value. Stock costs 

are based on the weighted average cost principle and include expenses with the acquisition of raw 
material, cost of production and transformation and other costs to transport goods to their current 
locations and under existing conditions. In case of manufactured stocks and Work in progress, the 
cost includes a portion of general manufacturing costs based on the normal operating capacity. 

 
f) Provision for impairment of assets 

 
Management annually reviews the net book values of assets with a view to evaluating the 

impact of events or economic, operational and technological changes that may indicate 
deterioration or impairment. When such evidence is identified and the net book value exceeds the 
recoverable value, a provision is established for the impairment, adjusting the net book value to 
the recoverable value. 

 
Goodwill paid for expected future profitability is tested annually for impairment or when 

circumstances indicate a loss due to the depreciation of its book value. 
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g) Leases 
 
Leases of property, plant and equipment, of which the Company and its subsidiaries hold 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases. These are 
capitalized at the start of the lease at the lowest value between the fair value of the leased asset 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The corresponding liabilities, net of 
financial charges, are included in loans. Property, plant and equipment acquired through finance 
lease is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. 

 
Payments for operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are recognized 

in profit or loss using the straight-line method during the lease period.  
 

h) Adjustment to present value of assets and liabilities 
 

Long-term monetary assets and liabilities are monetarily restated and therefore adjusted for 
their present value. The adjustment to present value of short-term monetary assets and liabilities 
is calculated, and only recorded, if it is considered relevant in relation to the financial statements 
taken as a whole. Based on the analysies made and management's best estimates, the Company 
concluded that the adjustment to present value of current monetary assets and liabilities is 
immaterial in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole and, therefore, did not record 
any adjustments. 

 

i) Revenues and expenses 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries earn software revenue, made up of licensing and 

subscription fees, revenue from maintenance, revenue from services that includes 
implementation, customization and consulting, and revenue from hardware. Revenues are 
presented net of taxes, returns, allowances and discounts, when applicable. 

 
Revenue related to software license is recognized in accordance with the following models: 
 
(i) Licensing rate, when the ownership of licenses for solutions is transferred to the client: 

is recognized when all risks and rewards inherent to the license are transferred to the 
buyer through software delivery and when the amount can be measured reliably, as 
well as it is probable that economic benefits be generated for the benefit of the 
Company.  

(ii) Subscription, when licenses are made available to the client upon subscription: are 
recognized on a monthly basis over the terms of the agreements with customers. 

 
Revenue from services is billed separately and recognized as the services are performed. 

Billed revenue that does not meet the recognition criteria is not included in the balances of 
respective revenue account and accounts receivable. 

 
Revenue from maintenance, comprising technological developments and technical support 

services (phone or Internet service for inquiries) are recognized monthly over the terms of the 
agreements with customers.  

 
Hardware revenue is recognized when there is reliable evidence that: (i) the risks and 

rewards inherent to the product were transferred to the buyer; (ii) the economic benefits will flow 
to the entity; and (iii) the associated costs and possible return of goods may be estimated reliably. 
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If a discount can probably be granted and the amount can be reliably measured, the discount is 
deducted from revenue as sales are recognized. 

 
The costs related to revenue from licensing fees include the costs of acquisition of databases, 

costs of the media in which the products are delivered, and price of licenses paid to third parties, 
in the case of resold software. Costs related to revenue from maintenance services consist mainly 
of the salaries of consulting and support personnel and other costs related to those areas.  

 
Expenses with research and development incurred by the software development area, 

related to new software versions and upgrades of existing software are registered as expenses for 
the year in which they are incurred and are stated separately from selling costs, in operating 
expenses.  

 

j) Taxation 
 
Sales taxes 
Revenues from sales and services are subject to the following taxes and contributions at the 

following basic rates: 
 

¶  Contribution tax on Gross Revenue for Social Integration Program (PIS) 0.65% and 1.65%; 

¶ Contribution tax on Gross Revenue for Social Security Financing (COFINS) 3.0% and 7.6%; 

¶ Service Tax (ISS) between 2% and 5%; 

¶ National Social Security Institute (INSS) of 4.5%; and 

¶ Value-added tax (ICMS) of between 4% and 12%. 
 
These charges are accounted for as sales deductions in the income statement.  
 
Income and social contribution taxes ς current and deferred 
 
The taxation on income includes Income and Social Contribution Taxes, which stand at the 

nominal rate of 34% on taxable income recognized using the accrual basis of accounting. Income 
taxes are recognized in the income statement, except if related to items directly recognized in 
equity or comprehensive income. In this case, the tax is also recognized in equity or comprehensive 
income. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized only in proportion to the expectation that future taxable 

income is available and  against which temporary differences can be used.  
 

k) Government subsidy 
 
Bematech, a subsidiary of TOTVS S.A., enjoys the tax benefit established by State Decree nº 

1922/2011, which allows the appropriation of deemed ICMS credit equivalent to the rate provided 
for in the respective output of goods listed in the Decree. This benefit applies to industrial plants 
manufacturing IT and automation products located in the state of Paraná and which meet the 
requirements of the Law of Information Technology. This credit is given as a subsidy for 
investments, for which the Company must: 

 
a) have publications in Interministerial Administrative Ruling (Finance, Development, 

Industry and Foreign Trade, and Science and Technology); and 
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b) invest in research and development activities according to item II, paragraph 2, of Article 
1 of State Decree nº 1.922/2011. 

 
 

l) Pronouncements issued yet to take effect 
 
IFRS 9/CPC48 ς Financial Instruments, addresses the classification, measurement and 

recognition of financial assets and liabilities. The complete version of IFRS 9 was published in 
July 2014, to come into force on January 1, 2018, and replaces IAS 39 guidelines on the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments. The main changes introduced by IFRS 9 
were: (i) new criteria for classifying financial assets; (ii) new impairment model for financial assets, 
combination of expected and incurred losses, replacing the current model of losses incurred; and 
(iii) flexibility of requirements to adopt hedge accounting.  
 

Management understands that the new IFRS 9/CPC 48 guidelines will not have significant 
impact on classification and measurement of its financial assets, especially considering that the 
company does not have hedging operations on the reporting date of these financial statements. 
The Company does not expect any significant impact on its balance sheet and statement of changes 
in equity, except for the effect of the application of the impairment requirements under IFRS 9/CPC 
48, for which it will apply the simplified approach and record any expected losses throughout the 
ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ƭƛŦŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘǎ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŀōƭŜΦ Even the most recent analysis, the Company estimates that 
there will be no material impacts due to the change in the model of losses incurred for expected 
losses. 

 
IFRS 15/CPC47 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The standard sets a new model 

containing five steps that must be applied to revenues from contracts with customers. According 
to IFRS 15/CPC47, revenues are recognized in an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
an entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for the transfer of goods or services to a client.  

 
The new standard replaces IAS 18 ς Revenue, IAS 11 ς Construction Contracts and the 

corresponding interpretations. The Company adopted the new standard on January 1, 2018, the 
date on which the standard became effective. For future disclosures, the Company will adopt  the 
modified retrospective method. In 2016, the Company conducted a preliminary assessment of IFRS 
15/CPC 47, which was continued with a more detailed analysis concluded in 2017.  

 
TOTVS and its subsidiaries offer software solutions, services and hardware that can be 

individually observed in contracts with customers, with certain exceptions, and expect the 
following impacts for contracts with customers: 

 
(i) Distinct performance obligation ς some contracts with customers offer joint hardware and 

software solutions, notably Bemacash . However, the Company concluded that the sale of 
these products reflects two distinct performance obligations, since the customer is 
benefiting from both products offered separately, coupled with the fact that the control of 
hardware equipment is transferred to the customer at some point, whereas the software 
subscription revenue is recognized over the period of the contract as long as the client 
ǊŜƳŀƛƴǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ōŀǎŜΦ ¢ƘŜǊŜŦƻǊŜΣ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ŎƻƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ŀƴ ŀŘƧǳǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǘƻ ά{ǳōǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻƴέ 
revenue in the estimated amount net of tax effects of R$2,455, with a positive impact on 
the opening balance of Equity as at January 1,2018.. 

 
(ii) Variable consideration ς some contracts with customers include discounts subject to a 

certain grace period and, according to IFRS 15/CPC47, these discounts should be estimated 
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in relation to the value of the contract on the signature date if it is highly likely that a 
significant reversal of the value of accumulated recognized revenues will not happen. The 
Company concluded that an adjustment will be required to the discounts based on the 
average time the customer stays in the Subscription base, in the estimated amount of 
R$778 and, as a result, an adjustment to the provision for commissions paid to franchises 
in the estimated amount of R$46. In addition, the Company concluded that an adjustment 
to the incremental costs related to the variable remuneration paid in the sale of software 
underwriting will be necessary in an estimated amount of R$2,629. As a result of these 
adjustments, in the next disclosures, the Equity as at January 1,2018 will be increased by 
R$2,218, net of tax effects. 

 
(iii) Software implementation and customization services ς These services are sold separately 

in contracts with clients and may be obtained from other suppliers. At present, revenue on 
these contracts is recognized as services are provided. According to IFRS 15/CPC 47, the 
progress of a performance obligation can be measured through two methods: product 
method or input method. As such, the Company concluded that contracts for software 
implementation and customization services differ from other services offered and revenue 
ƛǎ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛȊŜŘ ƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘΣ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ 
does not create an alternative asset and is entitled to the payment for the performance 
concluded until such date. The company will adopt the input method of measurement and 
will generate an adjustment to the Service revenue in the estimated amount of R$4,819, 
which will result in a decrease in Equity as at January 1,2018. 

 
The above mentioned impacts amount to a negative estimated adjustment to the balance 

of Equity of R$145, net of deferred tax impacts. 
 
IFRS 16 ς Lease Operations, with this new standard, lessees have to recognize the liability of 

future payments and the right to use leased assets in practically all lease agreements, including 
operating leases, possibly excluding certain short-term agreements or agreements of low amounts.  
The criteria for recognizing and measuring leases in financial statements of lessors are substantially 
maintained. IFRS 16 comes into effect in the years beginning on or after January 1, 2019 and 
replaces IAS 17 ς Lease Operations and corresponding interpretations.  

 
The standard will affect the recognition of the  /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻǳǘǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ ƭŜŀǎŜǎ ŀǎ 

mentioned in Note 29.2 about commitments with operating leases. However, the Company has 
not yet determined to what extent these commitments will result in the recognition of an asset 
and a liability for future payments, and the impact on its profit or loss and classification of cash 
flows. Note that some of the existing commitments may be included in the exceptions to the 
standard ς short term and small amount.  Additionally, some commitments may be related to 
agreements that will not be classified as leases under IFRS 16. 

 
There are no other IFRS standards or IFRIC interpretations not yet effective and that may 

have significant impact on the Company and its subsidiaries. 
 

3. Corporate restructuring 
 
The Company uses the acquisition method to book business combinations. The Company 

recognizes the noncontrolling interest in the company acquired, both at its fair value and in 
ǇǊƻǇƻǊǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƴƻƴŎƻƴǘǊƻƭƭƛƴƎ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŦŀƛǊ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǉǳƛǊŜŘ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƴŜǘ ŀǎǎŜǘǎΦ 
The fair value of identifiable assets acquired are measured and recognized on the acquisition date. 
The methods and assumptions used for fair value measurements are based on cash flow 
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discounted to its present value and replacement cost.  The amount of assets not identifiable from 
business combinations are booked as goodwill based on technical studies of future profitability. 

 
There were no new acquisitions in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. 
 

3.1.  Merged companies 

 

Over the course of 2017 and 2016, the Company and its subsidiaries merged the net assets, 
recorded at book value, of the subsidiaries shown in the table below: 

 
2017 

Balance Sheet PC Sistemas  Virtual Age 

Base date 3/ 31/ 2017  9/ 30/ 2017 

Current Assets 34,306  18,039 

   Cash and cash equivalents 16,044  6,090 
   Accounts receivable 14,970  11,062 
   Others 3,292  887 
Noncurrent assets 10,583  5,449 

 Long-term assets 3,599  596 
 Property, plant and equipment 4,340  1,233 
 Intangible assets 2,644  3,620 

 Total assets 44,889  23,488 

     
Current and noncurrent liabilities 14,646  5,433 

Merged net assets 30,243  18,055 

 
The net assets of PC Informática and Virtual Age were evaluated by experts who issued a 

valuation report on the net assets of the companies on the aforementioned dates. The merger 
agreements were approved at the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting held on April 28, 2017 at 
TOTVS Brasília. Any changes in the net assets after the base date of the valuation report until the 
effective merger date were absorbed by TOTVS Brasília and TOTVS S.A., respectively. 
 
 
 
 

2016 

Balance Sheet Misterchef  W&D 

Base date 7/ 31/ 2016  9/ 30/ 2016      
Current Assets 4,682  243 
Noncurrent assets 124  36,265 

 Long-term assets 3  - 
 Investments -  35,958 
 Property, plant and equipment 33  - 
 Intangible assets 88  307 

 Total assets 4,806  36,508 

     
Current liabilities 1,355  209 

Merged net assets 3,451  36,299 

 
The net assets of the subsidiaries Misterchef e W&D were valued by experts who issued their 

valuation reports of the companies on the base dates mentioned above, in accordance with the 
merger agreements approved at the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting held on August 1, 2016, 
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at Bematech, and November 1, 2016, at TOTVS Brasília. Any changes in the net assets after the 
base date until the effective merger date were absorbed by Bematech and TOTVS Brasília, 
respectively. 
 
 

4. Financial instruments and sensitivity analysis of financial assets and 
liabilities 

 

4.1.   Analysis of financial instruments  
 
¢ƘŜ ǘŀōƭŜ ōŜƭƻǿ ŎƻƳǇŀǊŜǎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎ ōȅ ŎƭŀǎǎΣ ŀǎ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ƛƴ ƛǘǎ 

financial statements: 
 

 Fair Value 
through profit  Loans and receivables  Held to maturity  

Financial liabilities 
measured at cost 

 2017 2016  2017 2016  2017 2016  2017 2016 

Financial Instruments   
Assets                   
Cash and cash equivalents - -  387,169 214,772  - -  - - 
Investment guarantees - -  - -  51,628 85,164  - - 
Accounts receivable, net - -  458,414 501,100  - -  - - 
Investments at fair value 57,645 56,800  - -  - -  - -             
Financial liabilities            
Loans and Financing - -  - -  - -  402,556 561,741 
Debentures and non-conversion 
premium - -  - -  - -  269,138 90,661 
Accounts payable and suppliers - -  - -  - -  195,405 186,453 
Obligation for acquisition of 
investments 28,588 28,058  - -  - -  89,447 98,650 

Total 86,233 84,858  845,583 715,872  51,628 85,164  956,546 937,505 

 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is included in the amount for which the 

instrument could be exchanged in a transaction where the parties are willing to negotiate, and not 
in an enforced sale or settlement. The methods and assumptions below were used to estimate the 
fair value: 

 

¶ Investment guarantees, trade accounts receivable, trade accounts payable and other 
short-term liabilities approximate their respective book values mainly due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments. 

 

¶ Financial assets at fair value not traded in an active market are estimated using a 
valuation technique. 

 

¶ Loans and financing and debentures are recognized initially at fair value, net of costs 
incurred in the transaction and are subsequently stated at amortized cost. 

 

4.2.   Financial assets  
 
Investments in startups made by the Company have a medium-term strategy in which the 

exit is planned for the moment when the expected financial returns are achieved and, therefore, 
are recognized as financial instruments. The value of these investments as at December 31, 2017 
was R$57,645 (R$56,800 as at December 31, 2016). 
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4.3.   Measurement of fair value  
 
It is assumed that the balances of accounts receivable and accounts payable to suppliers at 

book value, less loss (impairment) in the case of accounts receivable, approximate their fair values. 
 
The table below presents the Group's consolidated assets and liabilities measured at fair 

value as at December 31, 2017 and 2016: 
 

 2017  2016 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial Assets        
Financial investments - 345,632 -  - 154,631 - 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss - - 57,645  - - 56,800 

Financial Liabilities        

Loans and Financing - 402,556 -  - 561,741 - 

Debentures - 203,524 65,614  31,877 - 58,784 

 
     There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the year. 

 

4.4.   Changes in the liabilities of financing activities 
 

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were or will be 
future cash flows classified in the statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. 
The following is a breakdown of liabilities arising from financing activities: 

 

    
Cash flow from 

financing activities  Non-cash items   

  2016  Principal  
Interest 

paid  
New 

Leases 

 Interest  
incurred  Others (i)  2017 

Loans and financing  517,729  (182,354)  (30,178)  -  33,906  -  339,103 

Lease   44,012  (18,321)  (8,209)  37,767  8,204  -  63,453 

Debentures  90,661  170,039  (5,334)  -  13,772  -  269,138 
Dividends payable and others  41,561  (76,427)  -  -  -  53,353  18,487 

Total   693,963  (107,063)  (43,721)  37,767  55,882  53,353  690,181 

 
 

    
Cash flow from 

financing activities  Non-cash items   

  2015  Principal  
Interest 

paid  
New 

Leases 

 Interest  
incurred  Others (i)  2016 

Loans and financing  678,309   (167,645)   (42,502)  -  49,567  -  517,729 

Lease   -   (994)   (485)  45,491   -     -  44,012 

Debentures  144,286   (60,982)   (10,111)  -  17,468  -  90,661 

Dividends payable and others  32,885   (143,781)  -  -  -  152,457  41,561 

Total   855,480  (373,402)  (53,098)  45,491  67,035  152,457  693,963 

 
(i) The changes in the άOtherέ column included dividends payable and JSCP at the end of the year and 
of offset taxes on the distribution of JSCP. The Company classifies interest paid as operating cash flows. 
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4.5. Sensitivity analysis of financial assets and liabilities 
 
The Company's financial instruments are represented by cash and cash equivalents, 

accounts receivable, accounts payables, debentures, loans and financing, and are recorded at cost 
plus income or charges incurred or at fair value when applicable, at December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

 
¢ƘŜ Ƴŀƛƴ Ǌƛǎƪǎ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǊŜ ƭƛƴƪŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǾŀǊƛŀǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ .ǊŀȊƛƭƛŀƴ 

Interbank Deposit Rate (CDI) for financial investments and debentures issued in 2017, the variation 
in the Long-Term Interest Rate (TJLP) and the Extended Consumer Price Index (IPCA), for financing 
from the Brazilian Development Bank (BNDES) and for debentures issued in previous years. 

 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss relate to startups privately held and which 

do not have quoted prices in an active market. The fair values of these investments are measured 
by a valuation technique or multiple valuation techniques employed by the market considering the 
reasonableness the range of values shown by them. The fair value measurement is the point within 
that range that best represents the fair value in the circumstances. Additionally, the biggest 
investment ς GoodData - refers to the D Series preferred shares, which have preference in case of 
liquidation. 

 
To check the sensitivity of indexes for the financial investments that the Company was 

exposed to at December 31, 2017, three different scenarios were created. Based on the forecast 
by financial institutions, the average CDI is 6.89% p.y. and was defined as the probable scenario 
(scenario I). From this rate, we calculated variations of 25% (scenario II) and 50% (scenario III). 

 
CƻǊ ŜŀŎƘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜǎŜ ǎŎŜƴŀǊƛƻǎ ǘƘŜ άƎǊƻǎǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜέ ǿŀǎ ŜǎǘƛƳated, without including 

taxes on investment yields. The reference date for the portfolio was December 31, 2017, with a 
one-year projection to check the sensitivity of CDI to each scenario. 

 

Operation  Balances in 2017  Risk  
Probable 
Scenario (I) Scenario (II) 

Scenario 
(III) 

    Reduction     

Financial investments            R$345,632  CDI  6.89% 5.17% 3.45% 

Financial income        R$23,814 R$17,869 R$11,924 

 
To check the sensitivity of the indexes to which the Company is exposed when estimating 

the debts as on December 31, 2017, three different scenarios were created. Based on TJLP and the 
IPCA rates in force on December 31, 2017, the most probable scenario (scenario I) was determined 
for 2017 and, from this, variations of 25% (scenario II) and 50% (scenario III) were calculated. 

 
For each scenario, the gross financial expense was calculated, not taking into account the 

tax and the maturity flow for each agreement scheduled for 2017. The reference date used for the 
financing and debentures was December 31, 2017, projecting the rates for one year and checking 
their sensitivity in each scenario. 
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Operation  Balances in 2017  Risk  
Probable 
Scenario I Scenario II Scenario III 

    Increase     
Financing ς Consolidated BNDES  R$302,022  TJLP (a)  6.75% 8.44% 10.13% 
Estimated Finance expense      R$ 20,386 R$ 25,491 R$ 30,595 

         
    Increase     

Consolidated debentures  R$65,614  IPCA (b)  2.95% 3.69% 4.43% 
    TJLP (a)  6.75% 8.44% 10.13% 
  R$203,524  CDI  6.89% 8.61% 10.34% 

Estimated Finance expense      R$ 21,141 R$ 24,993 R$ 28,866 

 
(a) Long-term Interest Rate 
(b) .ǊŀȊƛƭΩǎ 9ȄǘŜƴŘŜŘ /ƻƴǎǳƳŜǊ tǊƛŎŜ LƴŘŜȄ 
(c) Interbank Deposit Certificate 
 

4.6.   Financial risk management 
 
The main financial risks to which the Company and its subsidiaries are exposed when 

conducting their activities are: 
 
a. Liquidity Risk 
 
¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊƛŜǎΩ ƭƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ ŎŀǎƘ Ŧƭƻǿ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭǎ ŀǊŜ ƳƻƴƛǘƻǊŜŘ ƻƴ ŀ Řŀƛƭȅ 

ōŀǎƛǎ ōȅ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ƛƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ ŜƴǎǳǊŜ ǘƘŀǘ ŎŀǎƘ Ŧƭƻǿ ŦǊƻƳ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ 
funding, when necessary, are sufficient to meet their cash commitment schedule, not generating 
liquidity risks for the Company and its subsidiaries. 

 
The table below analyzes non-derivative financial liabilities of the Company, by maturity 

corresponding to the remaining period between the balance sheet date and the contractual 
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table represent the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. 
 Consolidated 

 
Less than 
one year  

Between 
one and two 

years (i)  

Between 
two and five 

years (i)  
Over five 
years (i) 

        
As at December 31, 2017        
  Suppliers  108,424   -  -  - 
 Loans and Financing  220,639    181,917   31,268   - 
      Debentures  14,968    80,886   215,334   - 
      Liabilities from investment acquisition  47,561   41,886   -   - 
      Other liabilities  3,428    5,467   -  - 
        
As at December 31, 2016        
  Suppliers 73,553  -  -  - 
 Loans and Financing 197,094  186,369  190,084  - 
      Debentures  12,111  7,651  70,899  - 
      Liabilities from investment acquisition 80,822  18,387  27,499  - 
      Other liabilities 8,260  -  -  - 

 

(i) As the amounts included in the table represent undiscounted cash flows, these 
amounts will not be reconciled with the amounts reported in the balance sheet for 
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loans, derivative financial instruments, suppliers and other obligations. 
 
 
b.  Credit risk  
 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a deal will not fulfill an obligation set forth in a 

financial instrument or contract with a client, which would cause a financial loss. 
 
Regarding the credit risk associated with financial institutions, the Company and its 

subsidiaries distribute this exposure among financial institutions with risk ratings of at least BBB. 
 
The credit risk related to services rendered and sale of licenses and hardware is minimized 

by strict control of the customer base and active delinquency management through clear policies 
on the sale of services and sale of software and hardware licenses. The subsidiary Bematech 
operates with distribution agreements and currently concentrates its distribution in a single 
distributor, with a low credit risk.  

 
c. Market risk  
 
i) Interest rate and inflation risk: interest rate risk arises from the portion of the debt related 

to TJLP, IPCA and CDI, as well as financial investments in CDI, which can adversely affect the 
financial income or expenses in the event of unfavorable changes in the interest rate and inflation. 

 
ii) Exchange rate risk: this risk arises from the possibility of losses due to currency rate 

fluctuations that could increase the liabilities resulting from loans and foreign currency purchase 
commitments or that could reduce the assets resulting from trade accounts receivable in foreign 
currency. 

 
Some subsidiaries have international operations and are exposed to exchange risk arising 

from exposures in some currencies, such as the U.S. dollar (USD), Argentinean peso (ARS), Mexican 
peso (MXN), Taiwan new dollar (TWD), Chilean peso (CLP) and the Russian ruble. The Company 
ensures that its net exposure is maintained at an acceptable level in accordance with the policies 
and limits defined by the Management. 

 
Below are the balances of each group company, showing a consolidated positive net 

exposure, since the exchange gains exceed exchange losses for the fiscal years ended December 
31, 2017 and 2016:  

 
2017 

Company  Accounts 
payable 

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents 
Accounts 
receivable 

Other 
assets 

Net 
exposure  Currency 

Bematech Hardware   (2,930) - - -  (2,930)   

Logic Controls Inc.   (2,476)  7,004   13,843   8,885   27,256   USD / CNY 

Bematech Ásia Co. Ltd   (18)  1,903   366   89   2,340   USD / TWD 

RJ Consultores México   (133)  41   760   48   716   Peso (MXN) 

CMNet Participações S.A. 
 

 (1,444)  1,245   1,040   197   1,038  
 EUR/ Peso (CHI 

and ARS) 
TOTVS México   (1,383)  3,005   1,193   -     2,815   Peso (MXN) 

TOTVS Argentina   (2,982)  5,970   1,914   -     4,902   Peso (ARS) 

TOTVS Incorporation   (159)  466   552   57,645   58,504   USD 

Total  (11,525)  19,634   19,668   66,864  94,641   
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2016 

Company  Accounts 
payable 

Cash and 
cash 

equivalents 
Accounts 
receivable 

Other 
assets 

Net 
exposure  Currency 

Bematech S.A.  (2,004)  -    115 - (1,889)   

Logic Controls Inc.  (1,575)  14,025  7,965 - 20,415  USD / CNY 

Bematech Ásia Co. Ltd  (14)  143  1,965 - 2,094  USD / TWD 

RJ Consultores México  -  685  7 - 692  Peso (MXN) 

CMNet Participações S.A. 
 

(208)  932  1,007 - 1,731 
 EUR/ Peso (CHI and 

ARS) 
TOTVS México  (1,124)  1,678  4,649 -  5,203   Peso (MXN) 

TOTVS Argentina  (2,979)  3,223  6,547 -  6,791   Peso (ARS) 

TOTVS Incorporation  (144)  3,362  298 56,800  60,316   USD 

Total  (8,048)  24,048  22,553 56,800 95,353   

 
d. Investments at fair value through profit and loss 
 
Investments at fair value through profit or loss consist of startup companies, as described in 

Note 4.3. 
 
Startup companies could fail or not be able to raise additional funds when needed, or may 

receive lower ratings than in previous investments. These events could cause our investments to 
become impaired. In addition, market volatility could negatively affect our ability to realize our 
investments through liquidity events such as initial public offerings, mergers, and private sales. 
 

e. Derivatives 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries do not maintain derivative transactions in the reported 

periods. 
 

4.7. Capital management 

 
¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀƛƳǎ ǘƻ ŜƴǎǳǊŜ ŀ ǎǘǊƻƴƎ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ǊŀǘƛƴƎ ǿƛǘƘ ƛƴǎǘƛǘǳǘƛƻƴǎ 

and an optimal ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ Ǌŀǘƛƻ ƛƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ ŘǊƛǾŜ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎŜǎ ŀƴŘ ƳŀȄƛƳƛȊŜ ǾŀƭǳŜ ŦƻǊ 
shareholders. 

 
TOTVS controls its capital structure by adjusting and adapting to current economic 

conditions. To maintain this structure, the Company may pay dividends, repurchase shares, take 
out new loans, issue debentures and promissory notes. ¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƴŜǘ ŘŜōǘ ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ 
loans, financing and debentures, less cash and cash equivalents. 

 
  Parent Company  Consolidated 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

Loans and financing and lease 374,074  519,501  402,556  561,741 
Debentures 269,138  58,784  269,138  90,661 
Liabilities due to acquisitions of investments 44,756  56,788  89,447  126,708 
(-) Cash and cash equivalents  (305,920)  (112,504)  (387,169)  (214,772) 
(-) Investment guarantees (28,512)  (36,841)  (51,628)  (85,164) 

Net debt 353,536  485,728  322,344  479,174 
Equity 1,261,394  1,221,188  1,261,577  1,220,916 

Equity and debt 1,614,930  1,706,916  1,583,921  1,700,090 
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5. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are maintained for meeting short-term cash requirements  to the 

/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎƛŎ investments, as well as other purposes. The Company's cash equivalents 
include financial investments in CDB (Interbank Deposit Certificates) and repurchase agreements, 
which are redeemable in a period of up to 90 days from the date of the respective transactions.  

 

  Parent Company  Consolidated 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

Cash   16,610   14,352   41,537   60,141 

Cash equivalents  289,310   98,152   345,632   154,631 

Repurchase agreements  149,061   44,452   150,291   81,856 

CDB  140,249   53,700   195,341   72,775 

 305,920  112,504  387,169  214,772 

 
The Company has financial investment policies, which establish that the investments focus 

on low risk securities and investments in top-tier financial institutions, and are significantly 
remunerated based on CDI variation, which averaged 99.07% of the CDI a month in the year ended 
December 31, 2017. 

 
 

6. Trade accounts receivable 
 
The following are the amounts receivable in domestic and foreign markets: 
 

  Parent Company  Consolidated 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

Domestic market  390,043   428,956   530,824   583,464 
Foreign market  860   1,268   16,622   22,819 

Gross trade accounts receivable 390,903  430,224  547,446  606,283 

(-) allowances for doubtful accounts (73,469)  (84,293)  (89,032)  (105,183) 

Net trade accounts receivable 317,434  345,931  458,414  501,100 

Current assets  286,435   310,089   426,513   464,187 
Noncurrent assets (a)  30,999   35,842   31,901   36,913 

 
(a) Long-term accounts receivables refer basically to the sale of software license, software implementation and 

customization services, and are presented net of adjustment to present value. 
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Below are the receivables in connection with the net amount of allowance for doubtful 
accounts by aging list at December 31, 2017 and 2016:  
 

  Parent Company  Consolidated 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

Falling due  229,417   241,113   339,686   375,185 

Unbilled  49,762   62,327   59,986   65,428 

Overdue        
1 to 30 days   15,370    19,605    24,082    27,183  

31 to 60 days   5,799    7,021    9,801    10,092  

61 to 90 days   4,466    4,517    6,995    6,712  

91 to 180 days   6,984    8,097    10,236    11,373  

181 to 360 days   2,281    1,906    3,456    2,069  

more than 360 days   3,355    1,345    4,172    3,058  

 Net accounts receivable 317,434   345,931   458,414  501,100 

 
Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows: 
 

  Parent Company  Consolidated 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
Balance at the beginning of the year 84,293  56,551  105,183  75,860 

Merged company 1,028  -  -  - 

Additional provision in the year 23,777  41,542  36,695  49,197 

Amounts written off of the provision (35,629)  (13,800)  (52,846)  (19,874) 

Balance at end of period  73,469  84,293  89,032  105,183 

 
Management believes that the risk related to trade accounts receivable in general is 

ƳƛƴƛƳƛȊŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŦŀŎǘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎǳǎǘƻƳŜǊ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻ ƛǎ ŘƛƭǳǘŜŘ, except for the distributor 
of Bematech which cumulatively accounted for 3.96% of net accounts receivable in consolidated 
statements as at December 31, 2017. The Company does not require any guarantee on installment 
sales. 

 

7. Stocks 
 
The breakdown of stocks exclusively set up by Bematech is as follows: 

   Consolidated    Consolidated 
  2017  2016 

Finished products  11,684   6,502 

Raw material  24,047   15,640 

Products for resale and others  8,218   5,675 

Parts for technical assistance   764   1,346 

Advances from supplier  1,078   - 

(-) Provision for adjustment  to realization 
value 

 (963)  (944) 

  44,828  28,219 
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8. Taxes recoverable 
 

   Parent Company     Consolidated  
  2017  2016 

 
2017  2016 

State Goods and Services Tax (ICMS) (a) -  -   42,188     46,324 

Income tax to offset (b) 40,332    51,431   50,475    62,364  

Social contribution tax to offset (b) 16,177  21,561   19,034    24,992  

Withholding PIS and COFINS taxes 61  -   1,350     4,032 

Other  1  1   745    6,381  

   56,571   72,993  113,792   144,093  

Current  56,571   72,993   93,097   122,521 

Noncurrent -  -   20,695   21,572 

 
(a) Refer to accumulated ICMS tax credits of Bematech. These credits arise from the hardware operation, which 

enjoys benefits for investments granted by the State of Paraná. The Company and its subsidiary are currently 
conducting joint studies with their legal advisors to realize said credits.  

 

(b) Refer to withholding income and social contribution tax credits in the current year and income and social 
contribution tax credits to offset from previous years, as well as payments of estimated taxes in the current 
year. 

 

9. Income taxes 
 
Current and deferred income and social contribution taxes, were recorded pursuant to the 

current rates in force. Deferred income tax and social contribution are calculated over accrued tax 
losses and social contribution tax losses carryforwards, respectively, as well as temporary 
differences.  

 
9.1.  Reconciliation of income and social contribution tax expenses 

 
The reconciliation of expenses calculated by applying the Income and Social Contribution 

Tax rates is as follows: 
 

  Parent Company   Consolidated 

  2017  2016 
 

2017  2016 

             
 

Income before taxes 92,317  164,562   104,152  175,521  
Income and social contribution taxes at combined nominal 
rate of  34% (31,388)  (55,951)  (35,412)  (59,677) 
Adjustments for the statement of effective rate        

Equity pick-up  3,464   4,934  23    -    
Law No. 11,196/05 (Incentive for research and 

development) (a) 
10,447  11,439  11,410  12,273 

Interest on equity 17,118   28,574  17,118   28,574  
Subsidy for incentives -  -   2,277    3,617  
Effect of subsidiaries subject to special rates -  -   (7,394)   (7,880) 
Management stake (459)   (578)  (459)   (715) 
Accounts receivable deemed uncollectible -   (18)  (163)   (270) 
Workers' Meal Program 234   274   484   587  
Other 1,248  (578)  1,222  239 

Income tax and social contribution expense 664  (11,904)  (10,894)  (23,252) 

Current income tax and social contribution  (13,106)   (15,329)   (26,743)   (38,260) 
Deferred income tax and social contribution  13,770    3,425   15,849    15,008 

Effective rate -0.7%  7.2%  10.5%  13.2% 
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(a) The Brazilian tax legislation provides a mechanism to encourage the technological 
development of the country, which grants tax incentives to companies that carry out 
technological research and development (R&D). 

 

9.2. Breakdown of deferred income and social contribution taxes 
  

Parent Company  Consolidated 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

Tax losses and social contribution tax losses carryforwards  -  -  69,826  61,251 
Deriving from temporary differences:        

Difference between tax base and book value from goodwill  36,047    51,517    60,772   73,182  
Amortization of tax benefit  (79,151)   (71,567)   (117,676)   (99,478) 
Intangible asset allocation  (20,903)   (35,461)   (27,668)   (46,039) 

Allocation of intangible assets ς after Law nº 12973  9,289   5,244   9,289   5,244 
Provision for commissions  11,612   13,326   12,185    14,400  
Anticipated income or revenues  5,012   (3,975)    5,941   (3,923) 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  24,979    28,660    26,303    31,904  
Provision for contingencies and other liabilities  37,666   29,010    39,955   34,632  
Provision for suppliers 8,012  6,218  8,556  6,802 
Provision for losses in inventories and guarantees -  -  1,754   1,834  
Provision for share-based payments 3,503  1,641  3,513  1,641 
Present value adjustment 3,076   1,090   3,092   2,382  
Other 5,747  4,746  8,873  4,826 

 Net deferred income and social contribution tax  44,889   30,449   104,715  88,658 

 
The net deferred income tax and social contribution of the Company and its subsidiaries are 

presented under noncurrent assets. 
 
Below is the description of deferred income tax and social contribution: 
 

  Parent Company  Consolidated 

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

At January 1 30,449   16,954  88,658  63,507 

Expense in income statement 13,770  3,425  15,849  15,008 

Tax related to other comprehensive income 29  10,066  29  10,066 

Merged company 641  -  -  - 

Other -  4  179  77 

At December 31, 2017 44,889  30,449  104,715  88,658 
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9.3. Estimated realization of deferred taxes  
 
Based on projections of taxable income from future years approved by the Board of 

Directors, the Company expects to recover tax credits recorded in non-current assets in the 
following years: 

 
  Parent Company   Consolidated 

2018 64,677  68,920 

2019 17,106  41,565 

2020 15,213  29,176 

2021 12,588  26,225 

2022  12,483  25,086 

2023 onwards 1,973  31,419 

 124,040  222,391 

Tax benefit of goodwill (a) (79,151)  (117,676) 

Deferred tax assets, net 44,889  104,715 

 
(a) Refers to the amount of the tax benefit amortized without established term for 

realization, since this will be done only through the sale or write-off of Investments that 
generated said tax benefit.  

 
During the year ended December 31, 2017, no material event occurred that indicates a 

limitation on the full recovery of deferred taxes recognized within 10 years. 
 

10. Related-party balances and transactions 
 
Related-party transactions are carried out under market conditions and prices established 

by the parties, of which balances between the Parent Company and its subsidiaries are eliminated 
for the purposes of consolidation. 

 

10.1. Credits and liabilities with subsidiaries and associate companies 
 
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the main balances of assets and liabilities with related 

parties that impacted the income statements for the years are shown below: 
 

   Parent Company 
 2017  2016 

 Asset  Liability  Asset  Liability 

Ciashop 2,284  -  1,599  - 
TQTVD 4,139  -  45  - 
TOTVS Serviços -  7,332  -  7,073 
TOTVS Ventures -  5,760  -  5,760 
Others 298  336  -  414 

Total 6,721  13,428  1,644  13,247 

 
The amounts in accounts payable and receivable among subsidiaries refer to loan 

transactions, without remuneration and/or forecast maturity. There were no relevant transactions 
that have gone through Profit or Loss ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳǇΩǎ ŎƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎΦ  
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10.2. Transactions or relationships with shareholders and key management 
personnel 

 
a) Shareholders 
 
The Company maintains property lease agreements with companies, in which some of the 

shareholders also hold TOTVS shares, directly or indirectly.  
 
During March 2017, the Company moved its headquarters and terminated certain rental 

agreements that had been in force in 2016 and started an agreement for the new headquarters. 
The new rental agreement is valid for 120 months, with a three-month grace period, from March 
to May 2017 and its started in June 2017. Rental expenses are being recognized as profit or loss 
through the straight-line method from March 2017 and over the period of the agreement. In 2017, 
at the conclusion of construction, the Company paid R$1,340 (R$2,093 as at December 31, 2016) 
related construction management services to Inovalli ς Administração de Obras, Engenharia e 
Empreendimento, a portion of the shareholders of which hold TOTVS shares, directly or indirectly. 

 
The rental expense recognized at the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 was 

R$16,251 (R$9,121 as at  December 31, 2016). All rental agreements with related parties are 
subject to adjustment at the IGP-M inflation rate, every 12 months. 

 
Some Company shareholders and officers directly or indirectly hold 17.6҈ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

shares as at  December 31, 2016 (17.6% as at  December 31, 2016), and the indirect interest is held 
through LC-EH Empreendimentos e Participações S.A. 

 
The Company and its subsidiary Bematech also have loans and financing operations (Note 

16) and debentures (Note 17), substantially with the BNDES, which held 4.49҈ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 
capital as at  December 31, 2017 (Note 20). Since March 03, 2017, BNDES is no longer a related 
party of the company, as it is no longer represented in the Board of Directors or has any other 
ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ ƛƴŦƭǳŜƴŎŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŘŜŎƛǎƛƻƴǎΦ 
 

b) Key management personnel 
 
Itaú Unibanco, since September 26, 2017, is no longer a related party of the Company given 

the resignation of one of the independent members on the Board of Directors who is part of the 
ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŎƻƴƎƭƻƳŜǊŀǘŜΩǎ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭƭƛƴƎ ƎǊƻǳǇ. As at December 31, 2017, the amounts and 
transactions involving the Itaú Unibanco Group companies are R$18,635 (R$20,821 as at December 
31, 2016) relating to financial investments, R$2,212 (R$1,259 as at December 31, 2016) relating to 
bank-issued guarantee, bookkeeping of shares, insurance policies and others, and R$7,586 
(R$7,296 as at December 31, 2016) relating to assignment of rights for using systems and technical 
support provided by TOTVS. All agreements are conducted under usual market conditions. 

 
Additionally, in 2016, the Company also signed a payroll exclusivity agreement with Itaú for 

the next five years, in the amount of R$7,740 and had an agreement, for no valuable consideration, 
relating to the management of the pension plan with Itaú Vida e Previdência S.A. 
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10.3. Management fees 
 
Expenses related to fees of managing officers of the Company and subsidiaries are 

summarized below: 
   Parent Company     Consolidated  

  2017   2016   2017   2016 

Short-term benefits to managing officers               
Salaries, fees and payroll charges  13,902   12,448   16,660   15,571 
Private pension plan  448   442   474   466 
Variable bonus  1,349   1,228   1,278   1,584 

 15,699  14,118  18,412  17,621 
Share-based payments 3,549  1,555  3,549  1,555 

  19,248  15,673  21,961  19,176 

 

The Company does it provide other long-term benefits, such as paid leave based on years of 
service and other benefits for years of service at the Company. It also does not provide other 
benefits when members of its management quit, in addition to those established by Brazilian laws. 

 
11. Investments 
 
The investments of the Company and its subsidiaries are assessed based on the equity 

method. The breakdown of investments in subsidiaries and affiliate companies is shown below: 
 

  

Summarized financial statements 
of affiliate companies and subsidiaries 
as at December 31, 2017   

Equity pick-up (parent 
Company) for years 
ended:   

Balance of investments 
as of: 

Assets Liabilities Net Equity  
Gross 
profit  

Profit or 
loss   2017 2016   2017 2016 

Bematech (a) 576,867  112,791  
112,791 

464,076 412,705  
412,705 

 14,335    4,495  10,068  547,330 550,513 
TOTVS Brasília 149,736   11,044   138,692   85,110   12,558    12,558  8,530   138,692  129,486 
TOTVS Nordeste  84,578   16,670   67,908   7,017   (604)   (604) (2,106)   67,908  68,512 
TOTVS Serviços  14,000   (6,724)  20,724   5,955   95    95  4,054   20,725  20,630 
TOTVS Inc.  59,983   181   59,802   514   (9,743)   (9,743) (9,749)   59,801  61,100 

Virtual Age (a) - - -  46,393   3,704    (1,218) 3,150   -    74,626 

Neolog (a)  2,802    1,267     1,535  11,442   1,220    (1,325) (2,133)    20,681 22,186 
TQTVD  14,754   4,293   10,461   5,553   (3,893)   (3,893) (2,514)   10,461  14,354 
TOTVS Ventures  4,997   (5,759)  10,756   -     (317)   (317) (57)   10,756  11,073 
Ciashop (a)  2,786   4,221   (1,435)  10,103   (709)   (2,384) (2,682)   6,339  8,226 
TOTVS México  8,247   2,775   5,472   13,944   (5,666)   (5,666) (11,059)   5,472  8,160 
TOTVS Argentina  10,093   5,469   4,624   26,743   (1,178)   (1,179) (2,002)   4,624  7,081 
Datasul Argentina  62   -     62   -     (127)   (127) (8)   62  216 

TFS   1,886   1,087   799   2,556   789   789 -  799 - 

NCC  - - - - -  - -  38 38 
TOTVS RO - - - - -  - 1,771  - - 

        (8,519) (4,737)  893,688 976,201 

 
(a) Goodwill from acquired companies is recorded under Investments in the parent company's profit or loss. The 

difference between the results from acquired companies and equity pick-up refers to the amortization of 
intangible assets in the determination of fair value of assets of the respective acquired companies. 
 

 
 
The following table shows changes in investment accounts in the fiscal years ended December 31, 



(A free translation of the original in Portuguese) 

Page 52 of 76 
 
 

2017 and 2016: 

 

 

 

 

 

 2016 Addition Dividends 
Equity Pick-

up 
Foreign 

Exchange Write-off 

Reclassifi
cation 2017 

Bematech  550,513 -  (8,866)  4,495  1,188 - - 547,330 
TOTVS Brasília 129,486 1,067  (4,419)  12,558  - - -  138,692  

TOTVS Nordeste 68,512 - - (604) - - -  67,908  

TOTVS Serviços 20,630 - -  95  - - -  20,725  

TOTVS Inc. 61,100 7,613 -  (9,743) 831 - -  59,801 

Virtual Age 74,626 - -  (1,218) - (73,408) - - 
Neolog  22,186 - (180)  (1,325) - - -  20,861  

TQTVD 14,354 - -  (3,893) - - -  10,461  

TOTVS Ventures 11,073 - -  (317) - - -  10,756  

Ciashop 8,226 700 -  (2,384) - - (203) 6,339 
TOTVS México 8,160 3,779 -  (5,666)  (801) - -  5,472  

TOTVS Argentina 7,081 - -  (1,179)  (1,278) - -  4,624  

Datasul Argentina 216 - - (127)  (27) - -  62  

NCC 38 - - - - - - 38 
TFS - 10 - 789 - - - 799 

Sum of Investments 976,201 13,169 (13,465) (8,519) (87) (73,408) (203) 893,688 

         
Ciashop (1,208) - - - - - 203 (1,005) 

Sum of provision for losses (1,208) - - - - - 203 (1,005) 

         

Total investments 974,993 13,169 (13,465) (8,519) (87) (73,408) - 892,683 

 2015 Addition Dividends 
Equity Pick-

up 
Foreign 

Exchange Write-off 

Reclassifi
cation 2016 

Bematech   556,391  - (1,793) 10,068 (14,153) - - 550,513 
TOTVS Brasília  117,538  11,818 (8,400) 8,530 - - - 129,486 
TOTVS Nordeste  72,618  - (2,000) (2,106) - - - 68,512 
TOTVS Serviços  20,629  - (4,053) 4,054 - - - 20,630 

TOTVS Inc.  80,370  4,307 - (9,749) (13,828) - - 61,100 
Virtual Age  77,476  - (6,000) 3,150 - - - 74,626 
Neolog   24,319  - - (2,133) - - - 22,186 

TQTVD  16,868  - - (2,514) - - - 14,354 
TOTVS Ventures  11,130  - - (57) - - - 11,073 
Ciashop 10,117  - - (2,682) - - 791 8,226 
TOTVS México  953 15,906 - (11,059) 2,360 - - 8,160 
TOTVS Argentina  10,994  2,140 - (2,002) (4,051) - - 7,081 
Datasul Argentina  325  - - (8) (101) - - 216 
NCC - 38 - - - - - 38 
TOTVS RO  1,745  - (2,192) 1,771 - (1,324) - - 

Sum of Investments 1,001,473  34,209 (24,438) (4,737) (29,773) (1,324) 791 976,201 

         
Ciashop (584) 167 - - - - (791) (1,208) 

Sum of provision for losses (584) 167 - - - - (791) (1,208) 

         

Total investments 1,000,889 34,376 (24,438) (4,737) (29,773) (1,324) - 974,993 
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12. Property, plant and equipment 
  
Property, plant and equipment of the Company are booked at the acquisition cost and depreciation of 

assets is calculated according to the straight-line method, and takes into consideration the estimated useful 
economic life of assets. ¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅΣ Ǉƭŀƴǘ ŀƴŘ ŜǉǳƛǇƳŜƴǘ ƛǎ broken down as follows: 

 
 

Parent Company 

  

Computers   Vehicles   

Furniture 

and Fixtures  

Facilities 

machinery and 

equipment 
  

Leasehold 

improvements   

 Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
in progress 

 (iii)   

Others 

(iv)    

Total 

Property, 

plants and 

equipment 

Cost                               

Balance in 2015 112,845   6,958   12,967   15,800 
  

-   -   39,150   187,720 

Additions 17,998   3,557   1,780   2,683 
  

-   65,500   3,783   95,301 

Write-offs (20,677)   (3,153)   (1,230)   318 
  

-    -    (1,518)   (26,260) 

Balance in 2016 110,166   7,362   13,517   18,801 
  

-   65,500   41,415   256,761 

Additions   26,406    3,015    619    98  
 

 6,956    18,314    171   55,579 

Mergers 629  1,095  178  - 
 

-  -  129  2,031 

Transfers (i)  16,882    102    9,574    11,897  
 

66,126  (80,100)  (29,654)  (5,173) 

Write-offs  (739)   (2,146)   (2,316)   (4,816) 
 

-   (188)   (8,550)  (18,755) 

Balance in 2017  153,344    9,428    21,572    25,980  
 

 73,082    3,526   3,511  290,443 

Depreciation                               

Balance in 2015 (69,177)   (2,105)   (7,116)   (7,593) 
  

-     -    (15,494)   (101,485) 

Depreciation in 

the year (15,213)   (1,456)   (1,080)   (1,562) 
  

-     -    (4,850)   (24,161) 

Write-offs 19,654   1,546   1,177   309 
  

-    -   325   23,011 

Balance in 2016 (64,736)   (2,015)   (7,019)   (8,846) 
  

-     -    (20,019)   (102,635) 

Depreciation in 

the year (ii)  (20,577)   (2,561)   (3,310)   (2,869) 
 

 (6,148)   -      (1,468)   (36,933) 

Mergers  (224)   (535)   (71)  - 
 

-   -      (86)   (916) 

Transfers (i)  (1,324)   (102)   (171)   (33) 
 

 (10,014)   -     10,009   (1,635) 

Write-offs  684    1,328    1,696    3,081  
 

-    -     8,721   15,510 

Balance in 2017  (86,177)   (3,885)   (8,875)   (8,667) 
 

 (16,162)   -      (2,843)   (126,609) 

                                

Residual value                               

Balance in 2017  67,167    5,543    12,697    17,313  
 

 56,920    3,526    668    163,834  

Balance in 2016 45,430   5,347   6,498   9,955 
  

-    65,500   21,396   154,126 

Average annual 

depreciation rate 
20% to 25%  33%  10% to 25%  6.7% to 25%  5% to 20%  -  20%     
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(i) Includes the transfer of assets with residual value of the subsidiary RMS to the parent company in the amount of R$149 and the 

transfer of R$6,957 to intangible assets, both at the parent company and consolidated. 

 

(ii) In compliance with IAS 16/CPC 27, the Company  conducted, jointly with an expert firm, the assessment of the useful lives of its 
property, plant and equipment through the direct comparison with market data method. The assessment indicated the need to 
alter the useful lives and annual depreciation rates of some of these assets. The change in the accounting estimate, when applied, 
increased depreciation expenses in 2017 by R$1,420.  

 

Consolidated 

 Computers   Vehicles   

Furniture 

and 

Fixtures  

Facilities 

machinery 

and 

equipment 
  

Leasehold 

improveme

nts   

 Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
in progress 

 (iii)   

Others 

(iv)    

Total 

Property, 

plant and 

equipment 

Cost                

Balance in 2015   131,179   10,037  18,643  24,653  -  -  46,331  230,843 

Additions     19,306   4,773  2,248  3,889  -  65,500  5,069  100,785 

Write-offs     (21,367)  (4,361)  (1,553)  (323)  -  -  (1,954)  (29,558) 

Exchange variation       (1,302)  (54)  (353)  (287)    -  (472)  (2,468) 

Balance in 2016     127,816   10,395  18,985  27,932  -  65,500  48,974  299,602 

Additions  29,413    3,470    1,404    1,212    10,619    18,478    242    64,838  

Transfers (i) 10,273   102     7,421  16,471  70,553  (80,351)  (33,625)  (9,156) 

Write-offs  (4,339)   (2,788)   (3,409)   (5,733)  -  -  (11,670)  (27,939) 

Exchange variation 2,126   26   623  (334)   405    -      71   2,917 

Balance in 2017   165,289   11,205    25,024   39,548   81,577    3,627    3,992   330,262 

Depreciation                

Balance in 2015  (78,240)  (3,365)  (8,873)  (9,391)  -  -  (17,376)  (117,245) 

Depreciation in the 

year     (18,552)  (2,009)  (1,849)  (4,254)  -  -  (6,531)  (33,195) 

Write-offs       20,359   2,305  1,409  842  -  -  527  25,442 

Exchange variation            940   75  202  295  -  -  154  1,666 

Balance in 2016     (75,493)  (2,994)  (9,111)  (12,508)  -  -  (23,226)  (123,332) 

Depreciation in the 

year (ii)  (23,132)   (3,398)   (3,963)   (4,648)   (9,562)   -      (1,608)   (46,311) 

Transfers (i) 1,978  (229)  622   1,807   (13,040)  -  11,061  2,199 

Write-offs  3,923    1,706    2,276    3,963   -  -  10,716  22,584 

Exchange variation (1,628)   (8)  (1,089)   (403)   (274)    22   (3,380) 

Balance in 2017 (94,352)    (4,923)  (11,265)  (11,789)     (22,876)   -       (3,035)  (148,240) 

                

Residual value                

Balance in 2017 70.937  6.282    13.759    27.759    58.701   3.627   957   182.022  

Balance in 2016       52,323   7,401  9,874  15,424  -  65,500  25,748  176,270 

Average annual 

depreciation rate 
20% to 25%  

20% to 

33% 
 10% to 25%  6.7% to 25%  5% to 20%  -  20% 
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(iii) ¢ƘŜ άtǊƻǇŜǊǘȅΣ Ǉƭŀƴǘ ŀƴŘ ŜǉǳƛǇƳŜƴǘ ǳƴŘŜǊ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴέ column includes assets related to the construction of the new 
headquarters. These assets started depreciating as of April 1, 2017 and were transferred to their respective accounts, with 
leasehold improvements amounting to R$38,020. 

 

(iv) Includes the write-off of the residual value of leasehold improvements of the previous headquarters and the transfer between 
ƭƛƴŜǎ ŀƴŘ άhǘƘŜǊǎέ ǘƻ enhance disclosure. 

 
 

 
 

13. Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost at the time of their initial recognition, whereas 

the cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination corresponds to the fair value on the date of 

acquisition.  Intangible assets and changes in this account are as follows: 

 
Parent Company 

  

Software    
Trademarks 

& patents 
  

Customer 

portfolio  
  Other (i)   Goodwill   

Total  

Intangible 

assets 

Cost or valuation                       
Balance in 2015  237,296    63,149    208,969    16,337   233,811   759,562  

Additions 28,717  -  -  -  -  28,717 

Write-offs (88)  -  -  -  -  (88) 

Balance in 2016 265,925  63,149  208,969  16,337  233,811  788,191 

Additions 25,728  -  -  -  -  25,728 
Subsidiary merger 26,244  -  4,011  2,413  46,497  79,165 

Transfers 6,957  -  -  -  -  6,957 

Balance in 2017 324,854  63,149  212,980  18,750  280,308  900,041 

Amortization            
Balance in 2015  (142,482)   (31,221)   (157,747)   (15,150)   -      (346,600) 

Amortization in the year (28,881)  (4,200)  (21,372)  (665)  -  (55,118) 

Write-offs 28  -  -  -  -  28 

Balance in 2016 (171,335)  (35,421)  (179,119)  (15,815)  -  (401,690) 

Amortization in the year  (36,554)   (4,202)   (19,752)  (283)      -  (60,791)    
Subsidiary merger (17,245)  -  (1,575)  (2,413)  -  (21,233) 

Balance in 2017  (225,134)   (39,623)   (200,446)  (18,511)  -  (483,714) 

Residual value            
Balance in 2017  99,720    23,526    12,534   239   280,308    416,327  

Balance in 2016 94,590  27,728  29,850  522  233,811  386,501 

Average annual amortization rates 10% to 20%  6.7% to 8%  10% to 12.5%  10% to 50%      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



(A free translation of the original in Portuguese) 

Page 56 of 76 
 
 

 

 
(i) Includes primarily non-compete rights arising from the allocation of purchase price from business combinations. 
(ii) The baƭŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ wϷсΣфрт ǊŜŦŜǊǎ ǘƻ ǘǊŀƴǎŦŜǊǎ ŦǊƻƳ άǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅΣ Ǉƭŀƴǘ ŀƴŘ ŜǉǳƛǇƳŜƴǘ ǳƴŘŜǊ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴέ ǘƻ ǎƻŦǘǿŀǊŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ 

intangible assets (Note 12). 
(iii) Write-off of software developed by a subsidiary and fully amortized.  

 
The amortization of intangible assets is based on their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets identified, 

the amounts recognized and useful lives of assets resulting from a business combination are based on a technical 
study by an independent specialist firm. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Consolidated  

  
Software    

Trademarks 
& patents  

  
 Customer 

portfolio  
  R&D 

 
Others (i)    Goodwill    

Total  
Intangible 

assets  
Cost or valuation                         

 Balance in 2015 300,094  100,414   360,895   42,665   49,621   659,043    1,512,732 

 Additions 33,939  83  (5)  -  -  1,720  35,737 

 Write-offs (225)  (3)  -  (4)  -  -  (232) 

 Exchange variation (364)  (1,054)  -  -  (98)  (7,267)  (8,783) 

 Balance in 2016 333,444  99,440  360,890  42,661  49,523  653,496  1,539,454 

 Additions  30,192  189  -  -  -  -  30,381 

 Transfers (ii) 6,957  -  -  -  -  -  6,957 

 Write-offs (88)  -  -  (13,902)  -  -  (13,990) 

 Exchange variation (10)  (7)  2  (118)  3  551  421 

 Balance in 2017 370,495  99,622  360,892  28,641  49,526  654,047  1,563,223 

 Amortization       
  

     
 Balance in 2015   (160,466)   (38,827)   (171,733)  (1,306)   (41,388)  -   (413,720) 

 Amortization in the year (42,084)  (8,078)  (35,629)  (8,377)  (4,301)  -  (98,469) 

 Write-offs 107  -  -  -  -  -  107 

 Exchange variation 355  339  -  (28)  98  -  764 

 Balance in 2016  (202,088)  (46,566)  (207,362)  (9,711)  (45,591)  -  (511,318) 

 Amortization in the year  (52,472)   (7,982)   (32,743)   (8,004)   (3,382)  -  (104,583) 
 Write-offs (iii) 112  -  -  13,902  -  -  14,014 

 Exchange variation (309)  (42)  -  (14)  (3)  -  (368) 

 Balance in 2017 (254,757)  (54,590)  (240,105)  (3,827)  (48,976)  -  (602,255) 

 Residual value              
 Balance in 2017 115,738   45,032    120,787   24,814   550   654,047  960,968 

 Balance in 2016  131,356  52,874  153,528  32,950  3,932  653,496  1,028,136 

Average annual amortization rates 10% to 20%  6.7% to 8%  10% to 12.5%  20%  10% to 50%     
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13.1. Goodwill and intangible assets identified in business combinations 
 
The breakdown and addition/write-off of goodwill in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 

is shown below: 
 

 
 2015  

Foreign 
exchange 

(b) 

 Purchase 
price 

allocation  2016  

Foreign 
exchange 

(b)  2017 

Bematech (a)   260,923   (7,267)  1,720    
 

255,376  551  255,927 
RM   90,992   -   -      90,992    -      90,992  
W&D   64,070   -   -      64,070    -      64,070  
Virtual Age  46,497   -   -   46,497    -   46,497  
RMS   35,740   -   -      35,740    -      35,740  
SRC   33,688   -   -      33,688    -      33,688  
Datasul  30,084   -   -      30,084    -      30,084  
Gens FDES  16,340   -   -      16,340    -      16,340  
Seventeen   15,463   -   -      15,463    -      15,463  
TOTVS Agroindústria   13,128   -   -      13,128    -      13,128  
Neolog  12,565   -  -   12,565   -   12,565  
BCS  11,821   -   -      11,821    -      11,821  
TotalBanco   6,008   -   -      6,008    -      6,008  
Logo Center    5,703   -   -    

 
 5,703    -      5,703  

Ciashop   4,465   -   -      4,465    -      4,465  
Others   11,556   -   -    

 
11,556    -     11,556  

  659,043   (7,267)   1,720 
 

653,496  551  654,047 

 
(a) Conclusion of allocation of intangible assets in 2016. 
(b) Exchange variation of goodwill recognized in overseas subsidiary. 

 
 

13.2. Test for impairment of assets  
 
¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ŀǎǎŜǎǎŜǎ ǘƘŜ ǊŜŎƻǾŜǊŀōƭŜ ōƻƻƪ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻŦ ƎƻƻŘǿƛƭƭ ōȅ ŜƳǇƭƻȅƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ άǾŀƭǳŜ ƛƴ ǳǎŜέ ŎƻƴŎŜǇǘ 

through discounted cash flow models for cash generating units, representing the group of tangible and intangible 
assets used in the development and sale of different solutions to its customers. Cash generating units are 
composed of assets acquired but not merged with individual cash management. In 2017, cash generating units 
valued were: TOTVS, Mercado Internacional, Ciashop, Neolog and Bematech. 

 
!ǎǎǳƳǇǘƛƻƴǎ ƻƴ ŎŀǎƘ Ŧƭƻǿ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜ ŀƴŘ ŦǳǘǳǊŜ ŎŀǎƘ Ŧƭƻǿ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǊŜ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ 

plans, approved annually by management, as well as comparable market information, and represent 
aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ōŜǎǘ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǿƛƭƭ ŜȄƛǎǘ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǳǎŜŦǳƭ ƭƛŦŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜǎŜ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŦƻǊ 
different cash generating units. Future cash flows were discounted based on the representative rate of cost of 
capital. 

 
Consistently with the economic valuation techniques, value in use is determined over a five year period and 

from them, taking into account the perpetuity of assumptions in view of ability to continue as a going concern 
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indefinitely. 
 
Growth rates used to extrapolate projections as of December 31, 2017, in addition to the five year period 

ranged from 2% to 6%. Estimated future cash flows were discounted at rates ranging from 11% to 16.% p.y. (in 
real terms) for each cash generating unit analyzed. 

 
The main assumptions used in the value in use estimate are: 
 
ω Revenues ς revenues were projected between 2018 and 2022, taking into account the growth of the 
customer bases of different cash generating units. 

 
ω Operating costs and expenses ς costs and expenses were projected based on ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊƛŎŀƭ 
performance of operations combined with the /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ long-term business plan. 
  
ω Capex ς investments in capital goods were estimated taking into account the technological infrastructure 
required to deliver services, based on the /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊȅΦ 
 
YŜȅ ŀǎǎǳƳǇǘƛƻƴǎ ǿŜǊŜ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊƛŎŀƭ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŀǎƻƴŀōƭŜ ƳŀŎǊƻŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ 

ŀǎǎǳƳǇǘƛƻƴǎΣ ŀƴŘ ƻƴ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘƛƻƴǎΣ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘŜŘ ŀƴŘ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΦ 
 
¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƛƳǇŀƛǊƳŜƴǘ ǘŜǎǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ intangible assets, carried out annually, did not result in the provision 

for losses in the year ended December 31, 2017, since the estimated impairment value of each cash generating 
unit was higher than its net book value on the valuation date. 

 
 

14. Payroll and labor obligations 
 
Balances of salaries and charges payable are broken down as follows: 

  Parent Company  Consolidated 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

Labor liabilities:               
Salaries payable and IRRF  32,696   29,685   40,291   34,401 

Pension plan payable  754   524   771   546 

Vacations payable  61,354   55,971   78,305   75,954 

Profit sharing and bonus  11,780   6,860   13,343   9,290 

Other 975  2,820  2,393  4,034 

 107,559  95,860  135,103  124,225 

Payroll liabilities        
FGTS (Workerśseverance pay fund) 

payable  4,747   4,474   5,779   5,818 

INSS (Brazilian Social Security Institute) 
payable  5,329   4,909   7,954   10,496 

  10,076  9,383   13,733   16,314 

    117,635  105,243   148,836   140,539 
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15. Taxes liabilities 
 
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the balances of tax liabilities are composed as follows: 
 

 Parent Company  Consolidated 

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

Tax liabilities        
INSS payable  7,454    7,201    8,814    8,182  
ISS payable  3,808    3,631    4,737    4,393  
PIS and COFINS payable  8,031    5,228    9,956    7,488  
IRPJ and CSLL payable -   -      548    2,980  
Other taxes 1,525   1,233    4,670   5,098  

Total 20,818   17,293    28,725    28,141  

 
 
 

16. Loans and financing 
 
Loans are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and are shown at amortized 

cost. Any difference between the borrowed amounts (net of transaction costs) and the total amount payable is 
recognized in the income statement during the period when the loans are due, using the effective interest rate 
method.  

 
The loan and financing operations are as follows: 
 

    Parent Company   Consolidated 

  Annual financial charges  2017  2016  2017  2016 
BNDES PROSOFT  TJLP + 1.5 to 1.52% p.y.   282,387   431,756   296,565   451,214 
BNDES PSI 3.5%  to 4.0% p.y.   26,838   41,477   36,701   55,170 
Financial lease 15.12% to 17.24%   63,287   43,882   63,454   44,017 
BNDES ς Social  TJLP   1,562   2,386   1,560   2,386 
BNDES Inovação TJLP + 0.52% p.y.  -  -   3,897   5,347 
BNDES EXIM Banco do Brasil 5.5% to 8% p.y.  -  -  -  1,523 
Secured accounts and other   -  -  379  2,084 

    374,074  519,501  402,556  561,741 

Current liabilities    191,810    180,294    220,215    196,012  
Noncurrent liabilities    182,264    339,207    182,341    365,729  

 
Amounts recorded in noncurrent liabilities as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, have the following maturity 

schedule: 
 

  Parent Company  Consolidated 
     2017  2016  2017  2016 
2018  -    169,604   -    181,007  

2019  160,990  169,603  161,017   180,554  

2020   21,274   -    21,324    4,168  

Noncurrent liabilities  182,264  339,207  182,341  365,729 

 
 



(A free translation of the original in Portuguese) 

Page 60 of 76 
 
 

Below is the breakdown of loans and financing as at December 31, 2017 and 2016:  
 
  Parent Company   Consolidated 

  2017   2016   2017   2016 

Balance at beginning of year 519,501  635,175  561,741  678,309 
Additions (lease) 37,547  45,357  37,767  52,723 

Interest incurred  39,592  46,146   42,112   50,182 

Amortizations (222,566)  (207,177)   (239,064)  (219,473) 

Balance at end of year 374,074  519,501  402,556  561,741 

 
The Company and its subsidiary Bematech has loan and financing agreements with covenants usually 

applicable to these types of operations, related to the meeting of economic, financial, cash generation and other 
meǘǊƛŎǎΦ ¢ƘŜǎŜ ŎƻǾŜƴŀƴǘǎ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ƳŜǘ ŀƴŘ Řƻ ƴƻǘ ǊŜǎǘǊƛŎǘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎŀǇŀŎƛǘȅ ǘƻ ƴƻǊƳŀƭƭȅ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘ ƛǘǎ 
operations. 

 
a) Finance lease 
 
Lease obligations are guaranteed by fiduciary sale of leased assets. The table below shows gross liabilities 

of finance leaseas at December 31, 2017 and 2016: 
 Parent Company  Consolidated 

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

Gross liabilities of Finance lease ς minimum lease 
payments  

 

 

    

Less than one year  20,741   17,386   20,804   17,442 

More than one year and less than five years   49,685   38,303   49,790   38,417 

  70,426   55,689   70,594   55,859 

Future financing charges in Finance leases  (7,139)  (11,807)   (7,140)  (11,842) 

Present value of liabilities of Finance lease  63,287   43,882   63,454   44,017 

 
 

17. Debentures 
 
At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the balance was broken down as follows: 

     Parent Company  Consolidated 

Issue Debentures Annual financial charges 
Unit 
price 

 
2017  2016 

 
2017  2016 

Single series 200,000 105.95% of CDI 1.00 (a)(i) 203,524  -  203,524  - 
Single series 450 CDI + 2.25% 100.00 (b) -  -  -  31,877 

  Premium due to non-conversion  (c) 65,614  58,784  65,614  58,784 

  Total   269,138  58,784   269,138   90,661 

  Current liabilities    3,841   -   3,841   12,111 
  Noncurrent liabilities    265,297   58,784   265,297   78,550 

 
(i) The value of the debentures issue is presented net of transactions costs of R$525. 
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Maturity of noncurrent amounts is as follows: 
 

 Parent Company  Consolidated 

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

2018 -  -   -   7,651 

2019 65,449  58,784  65,449  70,899 

2020 199,848  -   199,848   - 

 265,297  58,784  265,297  78,550 

 
The changes occurred in the years considered was as shown below: 
 
 Parent Company  Consolidated 

Debentures and premiums from non-
conversions 

2017  2016  2017  2016 

Balance at beginning of year 58,784  98,902  90,661  144,286 

Debenture issue 199,475  -  199,475  - 

Interest incurred 10,879  12,169  13,772  17,468 

Amortization -  (52,287)  (34,770)  (68,677) 

Debenture repurchase -  -  -  (2,416) 

Balance at end of year 269,138  58,784  269,138  90,661 

 
 
a) Issue of Debentures 
 
As at September 6, 2017, the Board of Directors approved the operation to raise R$200,000 through the 

issue of 200,000 simple, unsecured, nonconvertible debentures of the Company with face value of R$1, in a single 
series, which were subject to public distribution with restricted efforts. 

 
For all legal purposes the issue of debentures was September 15, 2017. The debentures will come due on 

September 15, 2020, except in the events of early maturity.  
 
The Debentures will bear interest corresponding to 105.95% of the accumulated variation of the daily 

average DI (interbank) rates. Interests will be paid semiannually, with the first payment on March 15, 2018. 
 

b) Early redemption of the debentures of the subsidiary Bematech 
 

In 2014, Bematech issued unsecured nonconvertibledebentures in a single series, which were placed 
through a public offer with restricted placement efforts, in the amount of R$50,000, composed of 500 debentures 
with unit value of R$100 each. The debentures matured originally in July 2019, although in 2017 the company 
proceeded to the early redemption of the outstanding balance and unpaid interests, for which TOTVS was 
guarantor of all obligations assumed by Bematech in connection with the debentures. 

 
a) Premium due to non-conversion of debentures issued in 2008 
 
On August 19, 2008, shareholders approved raising R$200,000 through the issue of up to 100,000 Units, 

represented by Brazilian Depositary Receipts, comprised by two non-detachable debentures, one of which is 1st 
series convertible and the other 2nd series convertible. As at August 19, 2016, the remaining principal and interest 
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relating to debentures of the 1st and 2nd series totaling R$51,250 were amortized. 
 
 In case of non-conversion, /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ debentures will be entitled to a non-conversion premium, which 
for the 1st series debentures will be equivalent to the difference between IPCA plus 8.0% p.y. and the interest 
effectively paid, and for the 2nd series debentures, interest of 3.5% p.y.  

 
Premium for non-conversion of 1st series debentures will be restated by IPCA plus 8.0% p.y., while the 2nd 

series debentures will be restated at TJLP plus 5.0% p.y. The premium for non-conversion will be paid by  August 
19, 2019. 

 
 

18. Liabilities due to investment acquisition 
 
These refer to installments payable due to acquisition of investments by the Company and its subsidiaries, 

negotiated with installment payments, recorded in current and noncurrent liabilities, as follows: 
 

  Parent Company   Consolidated 
  2017   2016   2017   2016 

RMS -  -  15,826  33,828 
Virtual Age 15,368  25,650  15,368  25,650 

RJ Participações -  -   21,397   21,038 

Neolog 14,441  12,998   14,441   12,998 

W&D Participações -  -   277   8,033 

Seventeen 7,560  7,718   7,560   7,718 

Bematech Sistemas -  -   7,191   7,021 

TOTVS Agroindústria -  3,297  -  3,297 

Datasul MG 4,281  3,893  4,281  3,893 

Mafipa  1,398   1,326  1,398  1,326 

Ciashop  698   982   698   982 

TotalBanco   121   110   121   110 

Hery  662   602   662   602 

SRC  227   212   227   212 

Total 44,756  56,788  89,447  126,708 

Current liabilities  31,459   38,960    47,561   80,822  

Noncurrent liabilities  13,297    17,828    41,886    45,886  

Installments recorded as non-current liabilities mature as follows: 
 

Year Parent 
Company  

  Consolidated  
2019 13,297  41,886 
Noncurrent liabilities 13,297  41,886 

 
 
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the liabilities for acquisition of investments had secured accounts 

consisting of CBD operations in the amounts mentioned below: 
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 Parent Company  Consolidated 
 2017  2016  2017  2016 

Investment guarantees in current liabilities 28,512  32,165   44,615   74,027 

Investment guarantees in non-current liabilities -  4,676   7,013   11,137 

Total 28,512  36,841   51,628   85,164 

 

 
 
19. Provision for contingencies related to legal proceedings 

 

19.1. Ongoing proceedings with recorded provision for contingencies and legal 
liabilities related to legal proceedings 

 
The Company and its subsidiaries,  are parties to several legal proceedings related to tax, social security, 

labor and civil matters arising from the ordinary course of their business operations. A provision for contingencies 
was set up by management, supported by its legal counsel and analysis of pending judicial proceedings, in an 
amount considered sufficient to cover probable losses. The provision amount reflects the best current estimate 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ aŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊƛŜǎΦ 

 
The assessment of the probability of loss includes the analysis of available evidence, the hierarchy of laws, 

formerly adjudged cases, the latest decisions of courts of law on each subject matter, as well as the opinion of 
external legal advisors. The assessments are continuously reviewed. 

 
The amount of provisions set up as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 
 

  Parent Company  Consolidated 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 

Tax   2,257   2,259   2,827   13,879 
Labor   73,762   54,513   78,945   58,816 
Civil   34,763   28,551   35,998   29,530 

  110,782  85,323  117,770  102,225 

 
The summary of main proceedings in progress is presented below.  

 
Tax 
 
In 2006, Bematech filed a writ of mandamus against the District Director of the Federal Revenue Service in 

Curitiba for the recognition of illegality/unconstitutionality of the inclusion of ICMS amounts in the PIS and COFINS 
calculation base. In 2017, based on the conclusion of the trial by the Supreme Court (STF), considering the General 
Repercussion system, which decided to exclude ICMS from the PIS and COFINS calculation base, and based on the 
opinion of its legal advisors, the company reversed the accrued provision of R$8,454 (R$8,203 at December 31, 
нлмсύΣ ƻŦ ǿƘƛŎƘ wϷϷпΣнуу ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇŀƭ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ǳƴŘŜǊ ŘƛǎǇǳǘŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƛǘŜƳ άDŜƴŜǊŀƭ ŀƴŘ !ŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƛǾŜ 
9ȄǇŜƴǎŜǎέ ŀƴŘ wϷпΣмсс ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ƛƴŦƭŀǘƛƻƴ ŀŘƧǳǎǘƳŜƴǘ ƭƻǎǎŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƛǘŜƳ άCƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ 9ȄǇŜƴǎŜǎΦέ 
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Other lawsuits classified as probable loss deal with recovering tax dues that the Company and its 
subsidiaries consider improper. The amounts classified as probable losses from these lawsuits were R$2,827, on 
a consolidated basis, at December 31, 2017 (R$5,676 at December 31, 2016). 

 
Labor 
 
Labor lawsuits assessed as probable losses refer to lawsuits filed by former employees of the Company 

seeking labor dues, as well as service provider companies, seeking recognition of both employment relationship 
and other labor dues.  

 
The amounts assessed as probable losses from these lawsuits totaled R$78,945 at December 31, 2017 

(R$58,816 at December 31, 2016), there being no individually significant case. 
 
 

Civil 
 

Civil lawsuits classified as probable loss refer mainly to lawsuits filed by clients alleging certain problems 
with the delivery of products and/or services, application of the default increment, grace period in terminated 
contracts and undue collections.  

 
Notable among the individually significant cases are: 
 
(i) Civil lawsuit filed by a client alleging problems resulting from the product implemented, which 

would have caused direct and indirect damages to the client. The restated amount, deemed as 
probable loss, sought at December 31, 2017, is R$8,048 (R$6,778 at December 31, 2016). The 
Company appealed against the merits of the unfavorable decision and the amount involved.  
 

(ii) Action for damages due to alleged pain and suffering and pecuniary loss and filed by client alleging 
problems in delivery of services. The restated amount claimed is R$7,896 at December 31, 2017 
(R$6,336 at December 31, 2016), deemed as probable loss. The Company appealed against the 
merits of the unfavorable decision and the amount involved.  

 
Amounts classified as probable losses from other lawsuits totaled R$20,018 at December 31, 2017 

(R$16,416 at December 31, 2016), there being no other individually significant cases. 
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a) Changes in provisions 
 
The breakdown of provisions in the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 

 

 
The ǇǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴǎ ǊŜŦƭŜŎǘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ōŜǎǘ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴΣ external 

ŎƻǳƴǎŜƭΩǎ updated analyses and outcomes of previous legal proceedings in which the Company was defendant. 
This estimate is constantly ǊŜǾƛŜǿŜŘ ōȅ ¢h¢±{Ωǎ Ǌƛǎƪ ƳƻƴƛǘƻǊƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭΦ 

 

b) Judicial deposits 
 
The judicial deposits bound and not bound to provisioned lawsuits are stated below and are recorded under 

noncurrent assets ƛƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ:  
 

  Parent Company   Consolidated 

Judicial deposits  2017  2016  2017  2016 

Tax  8,719  8,076  17,897  16,820 
Labor  27,722  19,792  29,823  21,722 
Civil  12,766  1,978  13,407  2,361 

  49,207  29,846  61,127  40,903 

 Parent Company 

 Tax  Labor  Civil  Total 

Balances at December 31, 2015 1,323  40,070  28,999  70,392 
(+)  Additional provision 2,223  22,850  14,783  39,856 
(+)  Monetary restatement 146  3,656              2,964  6,766  
(-)  Reversal of provision not used (1,236)  (4,298)  (1,687)  (7,221) 
(-)  Write-off due to payment (197)  (7,765)  (16,508)  (24,470) 

Balances at December 31, 2016 2,259  54,513  28,551  85,323 
(+)  Additional provision 54  36,101  10,452  46,607 
(+)  Monetary restatement 194  6,103  3,989  10,286 
(-)  Reversal of provision not used (184)  (9,384)  (1,069)  (10,637) 
(-)  Write-off due to payment (66)  (13,571)  (7,160)  (20,797) 

Balances at December 31, 2017  2,257    73,762    34,763    110,782  

 Consolidated 

 Tax  Labor  Civil  Total 

Balances at December 31, 2015 12,965  45,466  32,076  90,507 
(+)  Additional provision 3,255  25,124  15,220  43,599 
(+)  Monetary restatement 917                 4,285  3,415   8,617  
(-)  Reversal of provision not used (1,567)  (6,355)  (3,061)  (10,983) 
(-)  Write-off due to payment (1,691)  (9,704)  (18,120)  (29,515) 

Balances at December 31, 2016 13,879  58,816  29,530  102,225 
(+)  Additional provision 1,038  38,819  11,162  51,019 
(+)  Monetary restatement (5,028)  6,547  4,040  5,559 
(-)  Reversal of provision not used (6,011)  (9,705)  (1,257)  (16,973) 
(-)  Write-off due to payment (1,051)  (15,532)  (7,477)  (24,060) 

Balances at December 31, 2017 2,827  78,945  35,998  117,770 
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19.2. Possible contingencies 
 
In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries are involved in other lawsuits, in which the risk of loss, 

according to external lawyers and management, is possible, for which no provision has been recognized, as 
follows: 
 

  Parent Company  Consolidated 

Nature   2017    2016    2017    2016 

Tax  107,517  119,384  137,140  163,310 
Labor  127,544  94,069  161,978  143,842 
Civil  245,092  252,984  272,499  276,985 

  480,153  466,437  571,617  584,137 

 
The summary of main proceedings in progress is presented below. 
 

Tax 
 
As a result of inspection procedures of the Federal Revenue Service (RFB) in 2006, RFB issued a tax-

deficiency notice for understanding that the Company made payments to unidentified beneficiaries, levying the 
withholding income tax (IRRF) on said amounts, and identified expenses allegedly not proved, adding the 
respective amounts back to taxable proft. The tax deficiency notice was challenged and is currently awaiting 
judgment of voluntary appeal. The restated amount for this lawsuit was R$11,613 at December 31, 2017 
(R$10,580 at December 31, 2016). 

 
In 2014, a tax deficiency notice was issued against the Company due to alleged joint liability for payment of 

ICMS on untaxed outflows for installing outflow control software at the taxpayer (client). TOTVS was considered 
jointly liable because the Company installed at the taxpayer a software that controls outflow of goods. The tax 
deficiency notice was challenged, with decision partially favorable to TOTVS, and currently awaits judgment in the 
higher administrative court. The restated amount for this lawsuit at December 31, 2017 was R$15,791 (R$14,385 
at December 31, 2016). 

 
A tax deficiency note issued by the Federal Revenue Service of Brazil requiring payment of IRPJ and CSLL on 

presumed ICMS credits granted as subsidy by the State Government of Paraná in the years 2007 through 2009 to 
the subsidiary Bematech was reclassified from remote to possible loss. The lawsuit currently is at the 
Administrative Council of Tax Appeals (CARF). The restated amount was R$24,627 at December 31, 2017 
(R$28,224 at December 31, 2016). The reduction in the amount is explained by the fact that the Revenue Service 
did not appeal against the portion canceled by the DRJ (Judgment Department).  

 
In 2012, the Company  offset debts with CSLL negative balance, but offsets were fully disallowed. The 

statement of discontentment is pending judgment in the lower administrative court. This process is classified as 
having a possible likelihood of loss by our legal advisors and the restated amount was R$10,836 at December 31, 
2017 (R$9,872 at December 31, 2016). 

 
The remaining tax cases assessed as possible losses deal with recovering debt which the Company considers 

improper. These cases totaled R$77,119 at December 31, 2017 (R$100,249 at December 31, 2016). 
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Labor  
 
Labor lawsuits assessed as possible losses refer to lawsuits filed by former employees of the Company who 

seek labor dues, as well as service provider companies, seeking recognition of both employment relationship and 
other labor dues.  

 
One of the individually significant tax cases is a lawsuit filed by the labor union challenging the application 

of labor routines. The amount claimed by the plaintiff restated on December 31, 2017 is R$18,681 (R$16,386 at 
December 31, 2016). The Company filed its defense challenging the merits of the allegation of the union and the 
amount involved. The lawsuit is in the lower court. 

 
The other labor lawsuits totaled R$143,297 at December 31, 2017 (R$127,456 at December 31, 2016), there 

being no other individually significant cases. 
 

Civil 
The civil lawsuits assessed as possible losses relate mainly to lawsuits filed by customers alleging problems 

in the provision of services offered to clients, application of standard price increase, and application of grace 
period in agreements rescinded and improper charges.  

 
Notable among the individually significant cases are: 
 
(i) Action for damages due to information filed against agency agreement, in addition to moral and 

material damages. The action, which involves the updated amount of R$80,168 at December 31, 
2017 (R$64,233 at December 31, 2016), is in the initial stage and was deemed as possible loss. 

 
(ii) In June 2017, the assessment changed from possible to remote in a claim for damages filed by a 

client, due to alleged problems with the provision of services, in the amount of R$78,888 (R$63,101 
at December 31, 2016).The process was ruled in favor of TOTVS, and the decision was maintained 
by the Appellate Court. The Company considers as remote the change of the decision being 
reverses, for which reason the risk is classified as remote. 
 

(iii) Action for alleged emotional distress and pecuniary damage was filed due to commercial problems 
with former franchisees. The updated amount claimed at December 31, 2017, deemed as possible 
loss, is R$14,171 (R$11,370 at December 31, 2016). The action is in evidentiary stage and the 
Company has already filed due defense.  
 

(iv) Civil lawsuit filed by a client alleging problems resulting from the product implemented, which 
would have caused damages. The updated amount claimed on December 31, 2017, deemed as 
possible loss, is R$20,224 (R$16,228 at December 31, 2016). The lawsuit is in the trial stage and the 
Company has already filed due defense. 

 
The other suits totaled R$152,864 at December 31, 2017 (R$122,053 at December 31, 2016), there being 

no other individually significant cases. 
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20. Equity 
 

a) Capital  
 
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016Σ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ǿŀǎ ŎƻƳǇƻǎŜŘ ƻŦ 165,637,727 shares issued and 

fully paid common registered shares, with no par value, as follows: 
 
  2017  2016 

Shareholders Shares %  Shares % 

LC-EH Empreendimentos e Participações S.A. 26,760,990 16.16%  26,760,990 16.16% 
Fundação Petrobrás de Seguridade Social - Petros 16,042,359 9.69%  16,042,359 9.69% 
Genesis Asset Managers LLP 8,436,429 5.09%  8,436,429 5.09% 
Laércio José de Lucena Cosentino 1,950,616 1.18%  1,916,118 1.16% 
CSHG Senta Pua Fia Haberkorn 43,500 0.03%  43,500 0.03% 
Ernesto Mário 16,810 0.01%  32,710 0.02% 
Others 110,155,056 66.50%  110,112,846 66.48% 

Outstanding shares 163,405,760 98.65%  163,344,952 98.62% 
      
Treasury Shares 2,231,967 1.35%  2,292,775 1.38% 
       

Total in units 165,637,727 100.00%  165,637,727 100.00% 

 
On April 20, 2017, the General Shareholders' Meeting approved a capital increase with a retention reserve 

of R$448,467, with the capital stock being R$ 989,841. Also, the authorized capital was R$1,300,000 approved in 
the same General Meeting. Additionally, within the authorized capital limit, and pursuant to the plans approved 
by the General aŜŜǘƛƴƎΣ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ Ƴŀȅ ƎǊŀƴǘ ǎǘƻŎƪ ƻǇǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŜȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜǎ ŀƴŘ 
employees, and to executives and employees of other companies that are direct or indirect subsidiaries of the 
Company, with no preemptive right to shareholders. 

 
b) Capital reserves 

 
The balance of capital reserves at December 31, 2017 and 2016 was broken down as follows: 

 2017  2016 

Goodwill reserve (a) 99,260  99,260 
Goodwill reserve for merger 14,330  14,330 
Premium on acquisition of non-controlling interest (25,518)  (25,518) 
Debentures converted into shares (fair value) (note 17) 44,629  44,629 
Stock option plan (note 22) 32,378  29,323 

 165,079  162,024 

(a) The goodwill reserve amount of R$99,260 is composed of R$31,557 relating to payments made in 2005 and R$67,703 relating to 
corporate restructuring with Bematech. 
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c) Treasury shares 
 
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the "Treasury Shares" item was as follows: 

  
Number of shares 

(units) 
 

Value (in 
thousand) 

 
Average price 
per share (in 

reais) 

Balance at December 31, 2015  2,199,275  R$71,012  R$32.29 

Acquired  143,500  R$4,033  R$28.10 

Used  (50,000)  (R$1,602)  R$32.03 

Balance at December 31, 2016  2,292,775  R$73,443  R$32.03 

Acquired  (60,808)  (R$1,948)  R$32.03 

Balance at December 31, 2017  2,231,967  R$71,945  R$32.03 

 
In the year ended December 31, 2017, the use of 60,808 treasury shares by the stock options plan consumed 

R$1,895 from the capital reserve. 

 
21. Dividends and Interest on Equity 

 
The Annual General Meeting held on April 20, 2017 decided on the distribution and payment of dividends 

related to fiscal year 2016, in the amount of R$7,375 paid starting from May 10, 2017. 
 
On July 31, 2017, the Board of Directors authorized distribution and payment of interest on equity 

amounting to R$32,912 relating to the 1st half of 2017, which were paid as of October 6, 2017.  
 
On December 21, 2017, the Board of Directors authorized the distribution and payment of interest on equity 

ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΣ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƻŦ wϷ17,434, to be calculated towards to the minimum mandatory 
dividend for the year ended December 31, 2017 to be paid as of May 9, 2018.  

 
 Parent Company 

 2017  2016 

Net income for the year - Company 92,981  152,658 
Accrual of legal reserve (article 193 of Law No. 6404) (4,649)  (7,633) 
Net income after legal reserve allocation 88,332  145,025 
    
Minimum mandatory dividend ς 25% 22,083  36,256 
Additional dividends proposed by management 33,705  55,339 
Dividends proposed by management 55,788  91,595 

    

Payment:    
Interest on equity 50,346  84,220 
Dividends 5,442  7,375 

 55,788  91,595 

    
Number of outstanding shares at December 31  163,405,760  163,344,952 
    

Dividends and interest on equity per thousand shares - in reais 0.3414  0.5607 

 




